TECHNOLOGY USE IN POST SECONDARY LANGUAGE EDUCATION

by

KIRSTEN LYNNE STAUFFER

B.A., University of Delaware, 2001

A thesis submitted to the

Faculty of the Graduate School of the

University of Colorado in partial fulfillment

of the requirement for the degree of

Masters of Linguistics, TESOL

Department of Linguistics

2014

RUNNING HEAD: TECHNOLOGY IN LANGUAGE EDUCATION

This thesis entitled: Technology Use in Post Secondary Language Education written by Kirsten Lynne Stauffer has been approved for the Department of Linguistics (TESOL)

> Maria L. Thomas-Ružić, Ph.D. Committee Chair

> > Patricia K. Mosele, Ph.D. Committee Member

> > > Kira Hall, Ph.D. Committee Member

> > > > Date _____

The final copy of this thesis has been examined by the signatories, and we find that both the content and the form meet acceptable presentation standards of scholarly work in the above mentioned discipline.

IRB protocol # 14-0184

Stauffer, Kirsten Lynne (M.A., Linguistics) Technology Use in Post Secondary Language Education Thesis directed by Senior Instructor Maria L. Thomas-Ružić

In 21st century life, technology pervades our personal and professional lives. Post secondary language education is no exception to this phenomenon. In response to changing learner needs and advancements in technology and pedagogy, instructors face challenges to seamlessly blend appropriate technology tools into their repertoire. This study investigates various types of technology tools used in personal and professional domains. Findings suggest that there is a higher incidence of technology use in participants' personal lives as compared to similar technology tools in their language teaching practice. Additionally, the study suggests that current tools used inside and outside of the face-to-face classroom are teacher-centered, as compared to learner-centered approaches that could benefit the learning process to a higher degree. Therefore, this study recommends facilitating lifelong learning through professional development opportunities, including the formation of cohorts, that promote the transfer of experiences acquired through personal use to the professional realm with pedagogical reasoning.

AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to express sincere gratitude to my Committee Chair, Dr. Maria L. Thomas-Ružić, and committee members Dr. Patricia K. Mosele and Dr. Kira Hall for their guidance, assistance, and encouragement. My indebtedness to Dr. Thomas-Ružić extends to her role as my advisor, which has greatly contributed to my growth academically, professionally, and personally. I would also like to acknowledge and thank Dr. Mosele for her enthusiasm and support to investigate technology tools for language learning and to implement them into my own teaching through pedagogically sound reasons based in Second Language Acquisition. I would also like to offer my appreciation to Dr. Hall for opening my eyes to Linguistic Hybridity through Sociolinguistics.

Special thanks to Courtney Fell for her generous assistance to become better acquainted with new technologies used in language teaching, as well as data collection tools currently available. Also, my appreciation also goes to Summer Webb and Dr. Joe Kasprzyk for their technical assistance.

My sincere gratitude also extends to my family, friends, and colleagues near and far, who have inspired and encouraged me on this journey called *Graduate School* and life - in general.

Last but certainly not least, I would like to express my most profound appreciation and gratitude to my parents, Karen and David Stauffer; my sister and brother-in-law, Monique and Kevin Klunk; and my aunt, Anna Lee Atabay for their endless love, support, encouragement, and understanding. I am eternally grateful to my nieces, Riley and Avery, for brightening each day with smiles and laughter.

CONTENTS

CULAT	CONTENTS	
СНАН	TER	1
I.		1
	Background of the Study	l r
	Purpose Statement.	5
	Study Significance	6
	Arrangement of Ideas	8
II.	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	10
	History of Technology and Language Learning	10
	Methods and Approaches	10
	Computer-Assisted Language Learning (CALL)	13
	Normalization	16
	Future of CALL	17
	Mobile-Assisted Language Learning (MALL)	18
	The Learners	18
	The Language Educators	20
	Attitudes and Perceptions	21
	Technology Usage	23
	Technology Training	24
	Pedagogical Training	28
	Time	29
	Survey of Technology Tools Used in Post Secondary Language Education	30
	Course Management Systems (CMS)	30
	Computer Mediated Communication (CMC)	31
	The Internet and World Wide Web	32
	Web 2.0	32
	Digital Recordings	33
	Digital Storytelling	34
	Games and Virtual Realities	34
III.	METHODS	36
	Survey Questions and Data Analysis	38
IV	FINDINGS	<u>4</u> 7
1 4 .	Participants	47
	Technology Usage	40
	Technology Tools	40
	Instructional Content Delivery and CMS / I MS	
	instructional Content Denvery and Civio / Livio	51

	Comfort and Interest Perceptions	52
	Technology Training	54
V.	DISCUSSION	58
	Personal Use and Teacher-Centered Tools	58
	Professional Development	60
VI.	IMPLICATIONS AND CONCLUSION	65
REFEF	RENCES	68
APPEN	NDIX	
A.	Email to Potential Participants in the Research Study	74
B.	Questionnaire	75
C.	Additional Data	84

TABLES

Table

1.	Warschauer's Three Stages of CALL (Bax, 2003, p. 15) 15
2.	Restricted, Open and Integrated CALL: An Outline (Bax, 2003, p. 21) 15
3.	Instructional Content Delivery
4.	CMS / LMS Functions
5.	Tool Functions in Personal and Professional Domains
6.	Teacher Language
7.	Participants' Age 48
8.	Years of Language Teaching Experience
9.	Use of Tool Functions Across Domains 50
10.	Instructional Content Delivery 51
11.	Perception: I find technology to be frustrating
12.	Perception: I like learning new things by using technology 53
13.	Perception: In the future, I would like to use more technology tools in my teaching. 53
14.	Where do you receive technology training?
15.	Perception: I would integrate more technology if I had more training 55
16.	Perception: I receive enough support to teach with technology
17.	Perception: I receive new ideas for using technology tools from colleagues / friends. 56
18.	Perception: I search out new ideas / ways to teach with technology on my own 57

FIGURES

Figures

1.	Study Design	36
2.	Allan Carrington's Pedagogy Wheel	63

ABBREVIATIONS

ACTFL	American Council on the Teaching of Foreign Languages
ALM	Audio-Lingual Method
ASR	Automatic Speech Recognition
CALL	Computer-Assisted Language Learning
CBI	Content-Based Instruction
CLT	Communicative Language Teaching
СМС	Computer Mediated Communication
CMS	Course Management System
EFL	English as a Foreign Language
ESL	English as a Second Language
FLL	Foreign Language Learning
FLT	Foreign Language Teaching
FSL	French Second Language
iCALL	Intelligent Computer-Assisted Language Learning
ICT	Information and Communication Technology
IEP	Intensive English Program
K-8	Kindergarten to 8 th Grade
K-12	Kindergarten to 12 th Grade
L1	First Language
L2	Second Language
LMS	Learning Management System

TECHNOLOGY IN LANGUAGE EDUCATION

MALL	Mobile-Assisted Language Learning
MOOCs	Massive Online Open Courses
PI	Programmed Instruction
SLA	Second Language Acquisition
TBL	Task-Based Learning
TBLT	Task-Based Language Teaching
TEFL	Teaching English as a Foreign Language
TESOL	Teaching English to Speakers of Other Languages
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization
VoIP	Voice over Internet Protocol

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Background of the Study

Imagine life without technology. Now remember what life was like 20 or even ten years ago, and recall how technological advances have increased the speed and ease at which it is possible to accomplish tasks, be organized, communicate and stay connected, find an infinite amount information in a split second, and be entertained, just to name a few. Technology has not only influenced change in personal and professional daily activities, but has impacted language teaching and learning. In an exchange of comments following an article about facilitating professors' use of technology (Winston, 2013), one poster remarked that students would cause colleges to shut down if instructional modes reverted to the traditional "lectures, paper and pencil". In short, technology is reshaping the state of language learning and teaching environments, pedagogical framework, and Second Language Acquisition (SLA) research. Technology is now a standard part of the post secondary language face-to-face and online (hybrid / blended and/or distance learning) classroom environments; successful integration of technology tools is facilitated when the instructor understands the field's development, is aware of perceptions and attitudes involving technology in language education, uses sound pedagogical practices, and has knowledge and skills of appropriate available resources.

In the decade between my undergraduate and graduate studies, I noticed a marked difference the role technology played in post secondary language learning. During that time period, I incorporated various technology tools when possible in teaching Business English and English as a Foreign Language (EFL) in Germany and English as a Second Language (ESL) to adults through a community literacy organization in the United States. However, I often found myself limited due to the "digital divide," (Motteram, 2013) which prevented me from incorporating as much technology as I would have wished. My "digital divide" existed primarily because of three reasons. First, my own knowledge of various tools and pedagogical uses of technology were not then what they are today. Second, adequate resources and infrastructure (e.g. audio, visual, and projection equipment; computers; and Internet) lacked in the physical teaching space. In Germany, I traveled from client to client, so my resources were limited to what I could carry in a backpack or what was available in the room where instruction was given. While working with recent immigrants, I was limited by the non-profit's funding to support technology. Instruction was given primarily in church basements and inner-city elementary classrooms that did not offer more than a television and video (VHS/DVD) player. A third "digital divide" stemmed from the students' own limited accessibility to technology devices and means. Immigrant populations often did not have regular access to a personal computer or the Internet - let alone possess skills to be able to use them. What I experienced as "digital divides" in previous EFL/ESL settings, do not appear to exist in most present day post secondary language institutions.

Throughout my Teaching English as a Foreign Language (TEFL) Certificate program in 2001, technology was presented primarily as a way to accompany certain teaching methods (e.g. cassettes and CDs to support the Audio-Lingual Method – ALM), to be a resource in lesson / material development (e.g. the Internet and other software applications developed to foster language learning), and to be a vehicle for employment opportunities (especially job postings – domestic and abroad, found on the Internet). Despite the late 1990s and early 2000s being a time of "a respectable body of [Computer-Assisted Language Learning, CALL] research, including quantitative as well as structured qualitative and action research studies" (Hanson-Smith &

Rilling, 2006, p. 4), I received no formal training in CALL (the use of computers and associated applications in language learning), a commonly cited reason for not integrating technology into language instruction. Furthermore, "the theoretical foundations of learning have moved at a rapid pace over the last two decades from behavioral to cognitive to constructivist, and it is the confluence of the advances in theory and the affordances of technology that have created excellent opportunities for teachers in higher education" (Herrington & Herrington, 2007, n.p.).

Jack Richards citing Hayo Reinders noted that an instructor's technical know-how determined his or her ability to use, create, or teach with tech (2011, pp. 7-8). Over the years, I believe my own technology growth has been self-motivated; I have sought out new ideas on my own and from cohorts, honed my technology skills in my non-ESL / EFL professional and personal life, enrolled in (and even paid for) graphic design classes and other technology workshops to be able to "use" technology tools and "create" material. The "teaching" part has more been by evoking SLA groundings through experimenting in the classroom and developing lessons and materials.

In addition to my personal affinity towards personal use of technology, I, like many but not all practitioners, believe that technology can offer great benefits to language learning by providing authentic resources, increased personalization of learning, autonomy, self access, and learner interaction. The technology toolbox that I used was "Non-Computer-Based Technology" (Douglas, 2007, pp. 197-199) (e.g. professional and self produced listening and video recordings).

Also during the time span between my own foreign language studying in a university face-to-face classroom and teaching at a post secondary Intensive English Program (IEP), the physical classroom and technology environment changed. Even at the turn of the 21st century,

textbooks came standard with audiotapes and personal computers were restricted to dorm rooms or campus computing labs with wired Internet access. Presently, wireless Internet connection is commonplace with college students yielding at least one mobile device at all times. Additionally, the classroom is now better equipped with more technological infrastructure (e.g. digital projection/sound connections, interactive whiteboards, wireless Internet connections, etc.), enabling the possible use of various applications of CALL and Mobile-Assisted Language Learning (MALL). Theses increased resources have enabled what Brown listed as "uses of CALL in the language classroom" - "collaborative projects, peer-editing of compositions, e-mail, blogs, web-based bulletin board communication, web page design, videoconferencing, reinforcement of classroom material (available through computers), podcasting, games and simulations, computer-adaptive testing, speech recognition software, concordancing, and multimedia presentations" (pp. 202-205).

I also discovered that my initial uses of technology were teacher-centered, in that I supplied authentic materials, or used them for other what Elizabeth Hanson-Smith and Sarah Riling described as "administrative / organization" purposes (e.g. "grades, communication, lesson planning, material creation, and professional development") (2006, p. 2). I was not using their other two categories of technology practice: technology for "blended" learning (incorporating technology tasks with the face-to-face classroom environment) or "distance" learning (a strictly virtual class) (p. 2-3).

In addition to the great strides in technological advancements (from language games with graphic files that would cause computers to freeze to apps available on mobile devices at the speed of light), there is also a noticed difference in the learner. The Millennial Generation, alternatively called the Net Generation or Generation Y (typically Baby Boomers' offspring), has

lived in a world influenced by a digital world and the Internet (Oxford & Oxford, 2009). Furthermore, college students today feel social pressure own and are more able to afford at least one mobile device. In my interest to more effectively teach the college bound English language learner, I began a journey to learn more about how I could appropriately and seamlessly incorporate technology tools into my repertoire, something that Stephen Bax wrote extensively about as "normalization" (Chambers & Bax 2006; and Bax, 2011). I also wanted to "use technology to extend and increase [my] effectiveness," (Ertmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2010, p. 257) as an instructor. Therefore, I began to wonder what other technology tools existed, who used these tools, why were they chose or avoided to integrate technology, and how other instructors learned about technology tools and skills. My queries about these technology tools formed the basis of this research.

Purpose Statement

The primary purpose of this study was to provide an investigation and descriptive overview of the uses of technology tools by language instructors in post secondary education. Language instructors are limited to those who teach second languages (e.g. English as a Second Language or Spanish as a Second Language), foreign languages (e.g. modern languages), bilingual courses, or teacher training / development programs. For this study, I focused on higher educational settings (i.e. IEPs, community college / college / university courses, or other private / public language institutions). This study also investigated the perceptions of technology in language teaching. The secondary purpose of this study was to examine relationships found across the data and to identify any patterns or trends that influence the instructors' uses of technology in teaching. The questions guiding the research were:

- 1. Does the length of language teaching experience or the instructor's age relate to his/her use of technology in personal and/or professional domains?
- 2. Are there associations between the instructors' personal use of technology on the one hand and their professional/academic uses of technology on the other?
- 3. Are there associations between the types of technology used across instructors' personal and professional domains?
- 4. What do instructors view as constraints or support for their use of technology in their language teaching practices?

Study Significance

The use of ever advancing technology has created new dimensions of language learning. As technology has been evolving, so have methods employed in language instruction. Benefits of the incorporation of technology tools in language education have shown to provide learners with more autonomy, community building, collaboration, reduction of the affective filter¹, customization of learning (e.g. availability, meaningful connections, speed, etc.), more communication, applications in real-world tasks, authentic exposure to language and culture, multiple ways of combining linguistic elements to recycle content which is important to the second language acquisition process, to name a few. As commonly described in the literature, a general consensus of the learners' benefits from technology use in language instruction does not exist; however, one would expect that instructors' beliefs, reasons, skills, and practices vary greatly.

¹ The affective filter is one hypothesis in Stephen Krashen's Monitor Model that suggested negative emotions could constrain language acquisition.

In a world of constant technological changes and new tools, instructors are faced with adapting, creating, and searching for new material with meaningful content. The integration of technology with pedagogically sound reasoning (Blake, 2013; Brown, 2007; Kervin & Derewianka, 2011; Levy, 2009; Stanley, 2013) is not a simple task, but subject to multiple factors, with circumstances unique to each instructor. In reviewing the literature related to language teaching/learning and the use of technology, several themes emerged influencing the instructors' use of technology, including: instructors' teaching experience, personal use of technology, training, and perceptions (Kim, Ruekert, Kim, & Seo, 2013; Ertmer, Ottenbreit-Leftwich, Sadik, Sendurur, & Sendurur, 2012; Cetto, 2010; Ertmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2010; Ismail, Almekhlafi, & Al-Mekhlafy, 2010; Herrington & Herrington, 2007; & Sokolik, 2006). Outside pressures that influence technology use are due to administrative decisions, budgets, curriculum requirements, training, personal comfort levels and knowledge, time, availability of hardware / software / infrastructure, etc. (Green, 2013; Hubbard, 2008; Kumar, Rose & D'Silva, 2008; Luke & Btitten, 2007; Valazquez-Torres, 2006; Snow, 2005; Meskill, Mossop, DiAngelo, & Pasquale, 2002; & Turnbull & Lawrence, 2002). Technology has also ushered in a plethora of applications that teachers can use to enhance the educational environment through administration, communication, instruction, engagement, connecting students with authentic resources, assessment, and evaluation of language learning.

The majority of the literature and research related to technology integration in language instruction appears to serve several purposes:

1. Instructional design / exploration for teachers / administrators (including pedagogical support for technology use and suggested activities / tasks / tools);

2. Research studies documenting effectiveness / outcomes / benefits / criticisms of individual (or combined) tools;

3. Perceptions of learners and teachers in regards to the use of technology; and

4. History of the field's development.

However, there is critical need to report on the actual usage of technology and tools in personal and professional domains and related perceptions in post secondary language instruction. Hence my study on the self-reported technology use in different domains by post secondary language educators is to understand "who" is currently using technology in post secondary language education, "what" tools are being employed, and "which" domains (personal and professional) do instructors use with technology, along with trends that arise across the data.

Arrangement of Ideas

Following the introduction (Chapter 1) of my thesis, Chapter 2 presents my literature review, which opens with an overview of the history of technology in language teaching. There is a considerable body of literature that examines the past connection as "virtually every type of language teaching has had its own technologies to support it" (Warschauer & Meskill, 2000). Understanding of the major developments in technology and language education, especially in regards to CALL, helps to explain how language teaching has changed and needs to reshape to reach the Millennial or Net Generation learners. Additionally, many scholars point to the potential of technology integration in language teaching being in its infancy. Connections from history also allow the field to continue building on established foundations, and evolve by challenging or re-examining methods and techniques parallel to a dynamic and rapid change in technology. Next in my literature review, I examine the change in the learners and how technology has created a new language learner in the 21st century. This is followed by a review

of related to teachers' attitudes, perceptions and experiences (e.g. knowledge, personal use, technology training, and pedagogical training, as the role of the teacher is crucial for the successful integration of technology in post secondary education. Finally, the literature review concludes with a survey of several commonly used technology tools employed in post secondary language instruction.

Chapter 3 describes the methods I used to construct the questionnaire to gather and analyze the quantitative data. In Chapters 4 and 5, I present my findings and subsequent discussion of the patterns and connections in the data that provide the "snapshot" of the current status of "who" is using technology, "what" technology tools are being used, and "which" domains are technology tools being used. In these sections, I discuss the fact that the language instructors are using technology in both their personal and professional lives. However, the use of technology is greater in their personal domain. While the 22 participants included in this study use more interactive features in their personal life, their integration of technology in language teaching is more teacher-centered. Additionally, since the post secondary language instructors receive most of their training through their department, program, or institution and they do not pay for training, the majority either collaborates with each other or explores technology options on their own. As the instructors in this study reported a rather strong interest towards the future use of technology in their teaching, I offer a few recommendations to further facilitate the training and idea exchanges to support the continuation of technology integration into post secondary language education. Most significantly among these recommendations is the promotion of cohorts within departments, institutions, and programs to share technical skills and tool ideas. Finally, Chapter 6 provides the implications and conclusion of the study.

CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

History of Technology and Language Learning

Methods and Approaches

Language instruction a century ago was vastly different from today. The current state of language teaching and learning has been a progression of different methodologies and the evolution of technology. Since the conception of primitive listening devices, such as phonographs and gramophones, language learning has benefited from audio listening and recording tools. These devices and those that followed, including today's modern digital versions, have afforded learners to be exposed to language and culture, to hear language spoken by native and non-native speakers, and to even record and playback their own voices. Additionally, upgrades to these tools have significantly impacted and enhanced various methods of instruction. As researchers have reported, this shared history is important to note, as some methods and technologies are still employed today in different formats. Importance lies in "reflecting on pedagogy in technology-mediated language learning environments and assess the extended use and value" (Levy, 2009, p. 779) of new and old tools. (The pedagogical methods discussed below are ones that literature cites as being influenced by technological advances.)

During the late 19th century and early 20th century, the Direct Method grew in popularity, as it was a vastly different approach from the Grammar-Translation Method, which did not have speaking as an objective. The Direct Method, commonly associated with the "Berlitz Method," placed emphasis on the spoken language for communication and understanding through immersion or direct contact with the language. Berlitz International, Inc. is an example of how a method of language instruction, advances in technology, and responses to changing student

needs have worked together. Maximilian D. Berlitz founded today's Berlitz International, Inc. in 1878, and taught through the Grammar-Translation Method. After hiring a Frenchman who did not speak English, Berlitz noticed a surprising progression of students' French language acquisition only after six weeks of instruction. As the company continued to grow and expand, it realized their diverse learners' needs were changing. In 1970, the company began producing audiocassettes, which expanded language exposure to students. Moving into the 21st century, Berlitz began offering additional multimedia products with exposure to authentic content and virtual learning environments.

Partially in response to World War II and the need to quickly train military personnel to become orally proficient in foreign languages, the U.S. military instituted intensive language courses using the "Army Method" or "Michigan Method," and later known as the Audio-Lingual Method (ALM) in the 1950s, grew out of structural linguistics and behavioral psychology (Larsen-Freeman & Anderson, 2013; Brown, 2007). These behaviorist ideas influenced the conditioning and habit-forming design of the method – emphasizing oral communication through a series of repetitive and pattern based oral / aural drills with vocabulary and grammar taught in context (without explicit instruction). These exercises became known as "kill and drill." At the same time, language labs (individual audio booths with tape-recorders and headsets) started to grow in popularity, as ALM exercises became individualized to the learner. Originally thought to create less work for the instructor, ALM actually increased the teacher's time to construct exercises and supervise lab time (Lado, 1988, p. 235). Additionally, language labs and ALM exercises were found to be ineffective in providing motivation alone and lacking in teacher feedback. Furthermore, the labs were costly to maintain, as the machines needed routine maintenance and repairs from vandalism caused by bored students. Although language labs still

exist today, the tape-recorders have been replaced with computers. Today, language programs and software still offer digital versions of ALM style "kill and drill" exercises for self-study. Furthermore, many language textbooks began to offer cassette tapes (which are now fairly obsolete), CDs, DVDs, and companion websites purveying additional practice.

Also during the 1950s, behaviorist B. F. Skinner began experimenting to make pedagogical and classroom experience enhancements, and developed the learning methodology of Programmed Instruction (PI, also known as programmed learning). The basic principles of PI were demonstrated through the use of a mechanical device, known as a teaching machine (originally created in the 1920s by Sidney L. Pressey to provide intelligence and information tests) (Skinner, 1958). Skinner viewed PI and the teaching machine as a way to increase student autonomy - by allowing students to work at their own pace, through carefully constructed and sequenced small steps of instruction. Additionally, students received immediate feedback on their performance, shaping their behavior to answer correctly, which he believed was a motivating factor. While PI was practiced in the 1960s and 70s, it grew out of favor in the 1980s because of changing interests in language pedagogy.

In the late 1970s and early 1980s, Communicative Language Teaching (CLT) began to take hold and was based on a Communicative Approach that strived for learners to achieve linguistic and communicative competences based on meaningful, authentic tasks that emulated real-world situations (Larsen-Freeman & Anderson, 2013; Brown, 2007). Applications of this framework include Task-Based Language Teaching (TBLT or Task-Based Learning – TBL), which was very student centered, placed emphasis on meaning and designed real-world activities to promote communication, and engaged any of the four language skills and cognitive processes. Content-Based Instruction (CBI), which grew in popularity in the 1990s, is similar to TBLT;

however, it focuses on teaching linguistic abilities along with content-based curricula. Today, TBLT and CBI blend well with technology integration. Technology equips these approaches with a greater opportunity for learners to become actively involved in connecting with authentic language and cultural materials, engaging with other speakers, and partaking in real-world (TBLT) or academic (CBI) tasks.

Computer-Assisted Language Learning (CALL)

Literature widely accepted Mike Levy's definition of Computer-Assisted Language Learning as "the search for and study of applications of the computer in language teaching and learning" (1997, p. 1). In his 2003 book, *Teaching and Researching: Computer-assisted Language Learning*, Tom Beatty defined CALL as "any process in which a learner uses a computer and, as a result, improves his or her language" (as cited in Hubbard, 2009, p. 1). As explanations for "improve" Hubbard suggested a number of different perspectives:

- Learning efficiency: learners are able to pick up language knowledge or skills faster or with less effort;
- Learning effectiveness: learners retain language knowledge or skills longer, make deeper associations and/or learn more of what they need;
- Access: learners can get materials or experience interactions that would otherwise be difficult or impossible to get or do;
- Convenience: learners can study and practise with equal effectiveness across a wider range of times and places;
- Motivation: leaners enjoy the language learning process more and thus engage more fully;

• Institutional efficiency: learners require less teacher time or fewer or less expensive resources (Hubbard, 2009, p. 2).

CALL programs have been categorized into four basic distinctions: 1. CALL specific software, designed intentionally with language learning applications in mind - to act as a tutor, often in the form of an interactive CD-ROM or web-based program; 2. Internet-based learning programs (e.g. online versions of dictionaries, concordancers, news / media sources, digital texts, web publishing, blogging, wiki, and webquests); 3. Computer Mediated Communication (CMC), a medium for global communication, which exists synchronously as online chats, simultaneous text messaging, video conferencing or asynchronously in the form of emails and discussion boards / forums; and 4. Generic applications that were not consciously created for the language learner, rather tools for general computing (e.g. word processing, spreadsheets, presentation creation, multimedia features, etc.).

To understand the future of CALL, there has to be an understanding of its past and present (Bax, 2003). However, explaining the past is not without some controversy. CALL has been around in practice since the 1960s, although it received its name in the 1980s. The extensive body of literature documents the history of CALL in two ways: 1. Chronological approach (describing technology by technology); and 2. Systematic phases corresponding roughly to time periods, which under closer scrutiny overlap.

Mark Warschauer wrote extensively on three phases of CALL (Warschauer & Meskill, 2000, Warschauer & Healey, 1998; and Warschauer 1996).

- 1. Behavioristic (Structural) CALL
- 2. Communicative CALL
- 3. Integrative CALL

Stage	1970s–1980s: Structural CALL	1980s–1990s: Communicative CALL	21st Century: Integrative CALL
Technology	Mainframe	PCs	Multimedia and Internet
English-teaching paradigm	Grammar- translation and audio-lingual	Communicate [sic]language teaching	Content-Based, ESP/EAP
View of language	Structural (a formal structural system)	Cognitive (a mentally constructed system)	Socio-cognitive (developed in social interaction)
Principal use of computers	Drill and practice	Communicative exercises	Authentic discourse
Principal objective	Accuracy	And fluency	And agency

Table 1: Warshauer's three stages of CALL

Warschauer's three stages of CALL

(Warschauer, 2000 as depicted in Table 1 of Bax, 2003, p. 15)

While Bax credited Warshauer with the first analysis of typological of CALL, he argued for a different interpretation (Bax, 2003). His three categories consisted of: Restrictive CALL; Open CALL; and Integrated CALL.

 Table 2: Restricted, Open and Integrated CALL: an outline

Restricted, Open and Integrated CALL: an outline								
Content	Type of task	Type of student activity	Type of feedback	Teacher roles	Teacher attitudes	Position in curriculum	Position in lesson	Physical position of computer
Restricted CALL								
Language system	Closed drills Quizzes	Text reconstruction Answering closed	Correct/incorrect	Monitor	Exaggerated fear and/	Not integrated into syllabus—optional extra	Whole CALL lesson	Separate computer lab
		questions Minimal interaction with other students			orawe	Technology precedes syllabus and learner needs		
Open CALL								
System and skills	Simulations Games CMC	Interacting with the computer Occasional interaction with other students	Focus of linguistic skills development Open, flexible	Monitor/ facilitator	Exaggerated fear and/or awe	Toy Not integrated into syllabus—optional extra Technology precedes syllabus and learner needs	Whole CALL lesson	Separate lab—perhaps devoted to languages
Integrated CALL				_				
Integrated language skills work Mixed skills and system	CMC WP e-mail	Prequent interaction with other students Some interaction with computer through the lesson	Interpreting, evaluating, commenting, stimulating thought	Facilitator Manager	Normal part of teaching—normalised	Tool for learning Normalised integrated into syllabus, adapted to lear ners' needs Analysis of needs and context procedes decisions about technology	Smaller part of every lesson	In every classroom, on every desk, in every hag
	Any, as appropriate to the immediate needs					_		

(Table 2 from Bax, 2003, p. 21).

*Normalization*²

Stephen Bax (2003) identified the end goal of CALL as 'normalisation,' the "concept relative to any kind of technological innovation and refers to the stage when the technology becomes invisible, embedded in everyday practice and hence 'normalised'" (p. 23). He further suggested that as of 2003, CALL had not achieved this goal, but would

when computers ... are used every day by language students and teachers as an integral part of every lesson, like a pen or a book. Teachers and students will use them without fear or inhibition, and equally without an exaggerated respect for what they can do. They will not be the centre of any lesson, but they will play a part in almost all. They will be completely integrated into all other aspects of classroom life, alongside coursebooks, teachers and notepads (pp. 23-24).

As CALL has evolved, there have been numerous studies to explain possible reasons for obstacles facing the normalization of computers in language education, including issues involving the teacher (Maftoon & Shahini, 2012). Through a qualitative and part ethnographic study at two sites in England, Andrea Chambers and Stephen Bax (2006) found four issues to be addressed if CALL was to be normalized:

1. Logistics (facilities incorporated with teaching space, classroom setup to facilitate easy transition between CALL and non-CALL activities, and teachers having enough planning and time to integrate computer use into their daily repertoire); 2. Stakeholders' (teachers and administrators) conceptions, knowledge and abilities (need to feel confident, realization that computer use is conductive to learning, and avoidance of 'technical fallacy' – the notion that hardware or software is the single factor of success or failure);

 $^{^2}$ Stephen Bax is a British Researcher and Scholar; therefore, in direct reference to his work, normalisation is spelled with the Received Pronunciation of British English.

3. Syllabus and software integration (proper amalgamation of CALL into the syllabus, with sufficient teacher support and use of open source CALL materials to adapt them to better align with the syllabus); and 4. Training, development and support (should be offered through a top-down – expert-novice collaborative approach, reliable support and encouragement to address and overcome fears and lack of skills, and pedagogical support) (pp. 477-478).

Future of CALL

As more and more learners emerge tech savvy, various teaching styles need the integration of technology.

If CALL is to survive and prosper, then we need a dedicated cadre of graduate students, especially doctoral students, willing to select CALL as their area of specialization. The paths of CALL and the language teacher education will increasingly be determined by such students and those they will educate in the decades to come (Hubbard, 2008).

With the dynamic fluidity of technology evolution and language acquisition research, what is commonplace practice with technology tools and CALL today will be obsolete in the future. What seem like infinite possibilities in the future will become reality soon enough. Likewise, tools that were once cutting edge (e.g. 8-track tape, audiocassettes, slide projectors, overhead transparencies, etc.) are now ancient relics. Preserving data storied on such devices needs to be converted to new digital formats. Finally, there have been significant early developments in artificial intelligence and its link to intelligent CALL (iCALL) in such formats as automatic speech recognition (ASR) and 'chatterbot' (a computer able to converse with a human through oral or typed input) (Kervin & Derewianka, 2011).

Mobile-Assisted Language Learning (MALL)

Simultaneously as Information and Communications Technology (ITC) (devices and applications that use telecommunications to access information) have become more portable and increasingly ubiquitous, the "digital divide" has been decreasing with other mobile technologies becoming more readily available (including wireless Internet connections), a new form of CALL has emerged. MALL, also referred to as mobile learning or m-learning, fosters language learning on mobile devices, such as cellphones, smartphones, media players (e.g. mp3 and mp4 devices), tablets, etc. In addition to content and communication (e.g. telephoning, email, instant messaging, and social networking) available through the Internet, there is a huge market for apps (applications, programs). Similar to CALL, MALL gives the learner even more autonomy, customized learning environments, accessibility to language learning, and practice in their "third space" at any time possible. They are simply another instructional tool, and not a replacement for a teacher. One commonly cited limitation of current mobile devices is the size of display screens and typing features. However, as technology progresses, so to will the quality and userfriendliness of the products improve. The ever-expanding possibilities of MALL are viewed as the future landscape of language learning. Furthermore, as this is a relatively new area of development, more research is needed on language instructor and learner perspectives and usage (Kim, Rueckert, Kim, & Seo, 2013) and more direction is needed for effective pedagogical integration of these devices and applications into language learning (Park, 2011).

The Learners

Understanding the contemporary learner is crucial to achieve seamless and successful technology integration into language pedagogy. Today's post secondary learners are part of the change brought on by technology; and are part of the Millennial or Net Generation. Marc

Prensky (2001a) coined the term "digital natives" to reflect a new generation of learners who have grown up in the digital age of technology. Their entire lives have been spent immersed in a culture of computers, video games, mobile phones, multimedia and digital content (e.g. music, videos, photographs, images, etc.), and the Internet. They are consumers and producers of multimedia, social media, and other forms of digital and viral communication. For them, technology is a language they know. Prensky further suggested (2001a, 2001b) that digital input has altered the brain structure of "digital natives." Researchers have written that learners are now engaged in a "third space" or "third place," that is a digital environment, outside of the home ("first") and work/school ("second") spaces (Blake, 2013; Godwin-Jones, 2005). Globalization is expanding the role and influence of technology, especially on young people around the globe. The "growing realization of the differences between today's students and those of even a few years ago has led many teachers to reflect on the way they teach and to begin to try new methods and tools that are more relevant and engaging" (Ertmer, et.al., 2012, p. 432).

In some places, governments or institutions are mandating technology integration, especially into education. For example, countries such as Argentina and Uruguay are working towards 1:1 computing for K-12, meaning one personal computing device for each learner. More and more domestic K-12 schools are investing in technology and pushing 21st century skills to be in compliance with government initiatives (e.g. No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, Common Core State Standards Initiative, etc.). These learners will enter post secondary education with years of technology experience. Colleges and universities are investing enormous sums of money on developing and maintaining infrastructure, equipment, support, and resources to staying technologically advanced. Some institutions are also providing or requiring personal devices (computers or mobile devices) to be used as part of academic study. As

reported by George Chinnery (2006), "Duke University provided free iPods to its entire Fall 2004 entering freshman class" (p. 9).

In contrast, educators that do not possess the same exposure to the digital world or skills are considered "digital immigrants" (Prensky, 2001a). They learned in ways vastly different from the way in which many their students learn. Language pedagogy and methodology books reiterate that educators need to understand the needs and goals of their learners (Lado, 1988; Brown, 2007; Larsen-Freeman & Anderson, 2011). To reach the new generation of learners, the use of technology in language instruction today is almost impossible to neglect. Technology's place in society (and in education) is one that is not easily explained. Some embrace it and others reject it.

The Language Educator

In order for successful integration of technology, teachers' attitudes, perceptions, and experience need to be known (Chambers and Bax, 2006; Velazquez-Torres, 2006; and Bax, 2003). Some attitudes and perceptions are shaped by experiences and outside pressures, which could include administrative decisions / mandates, budgets (for resources, materials, and training), availability of hardware / software / infrastructure, curriculum requirements, and time, to name a few. Not everyone in the Millennial generation (born in the 1980s and 1990s) is tech savvy, and there are many instructors born prior to 1980 that are tech gurus. Navigating technology tools can often be difficult for any novice, experienced, "digital native," or "digital immigrant" teacher of any language, and made even more difficult if not employed with sound pedagogical practice. Understanding attitudes, perceptions, experiences, and knowledge are important factors to consider in the development of language educators, at any level, but especially in post secondary education.

Attitudes and Perceptions

A long-standing and well-documented fear of technology use in language teaching is that it will diminish the need for a language teacher. Researchers and organizations have been demystifying this fallacy, as technology is not able to replace the pedagogical reasoning that comes with an experienced human teacher. Researchers and authors have noted that learners need to interact with a teacher for meaningful communication, facilitating learning, and delivery of content. "Just as doctors use technological advances to practice medicine, trained teachers should use technology to teach, but the teacher's interaction with the learner is crucial," (Lado, 1988, p. 228). Additional support can be found in the American Council on the Teaching of Foreign Languages' (ACTFL) (n.d.) position statement:

... acknowledges and encourages using the potential of technology as a tool to support and enhance classroom-based language instruction...However, because language is one of the most complex of all human activities and interactions ACTFL also recognizes the pivotal role of a qualified language teacher to incorporate and manage the implementation of technology so that it effectively supports the language learning experience. The use of technology should never be the goal in and of itself, but rather a tool for helping language learners to use the target language in culturally appropriate ways to accomplish authentic tasks...Therefore, ACTFL strongly advices school and university administrators to place the responsibility for language instruction in the hands of qualified language teachers rather than solely in technology programs. (https://www.actfl.org/news/position-statements/role-technology-language-learning.) SLA research has also revealed that technology "plays a complementary, rather than substituting, role" (Chen, 2011, p. 27), for an actual teacher in the classroom. Balancing the misconception with reality, instructors that integrate technology will replace those that do not.

Bridging the educator's technology comfort level is signifcant for engaging students. Another concern of teachers has been that their students are more familiar or knowledgeable about technology, and are more comfortable using it than they are. Maggie Sokolik (2006) conducted a small-scale survey of thirty undergraduate non-native English learners to understand their perspective of instructor technology use in their classes. She found that 66% of the respondents (undergraduate students) reported they believed their teachers knew less about the Internet and technology than they did. These students also noted that their teachers were more knowledgeable about their field than the students. Additional studies have shown that teachers often share this sentiment. Instructors feeling inferior to their students often avoid integrating technology in the classroom or assigning out of class work. An explanation for this phenomenon is: saving-face as a way to maintain a hierarchical structure in the classroom. Timothy Teo argued students' opinions of technology use in language teaching could be influenced by their teachers' negative or positive attitudes (as cited in Maftoon & Shahini, 2012, p. 20).

In a qualitative study of Puerto Rican pre- and in-service language teachers, Nancy Velazques-Torres (2006) found that "the participants who have completed their degrees in the last 5 years [between 2000-2005] feel more comfortable with computers than those who did over 15 years ago [circa 1990]. Nevertheless, they still did not feel prepared to integrate the emerging technologies into their language lessons" (p. 6). First of all, novice teachers are still learning to be teachers – as in they need to become familiar with the management of all aspects of the classroom (e.g. behavior, curriculum development and implementation, etc.) and understand

institutional requirements. Secondly, many teachers need time to experiment with the various methods and approaches they previously observed or learned about in their training. Finally, some still lack the motivation, time, equipment, or skills to be able to incorporate technology into their repertoire.

Technology Usage

"Teachers' computer acceptance is an important factor to the successful use of computers in education. Thus there is a need to examine the factors affecting teachers' computer use and its implications to teachers professional development strategies" (Kumar, Rose, D'Silva, 2008). Recent research (as cited in Ertmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2010) further suggested a correlation between an increase in educators' personal and professional technology use and computer use for instructional purposes. As part of Miles Turnbull and Geoff Lawrence's (2002) study of 274 French Second Language (FSL) teachers across Canada, they found that 37% of the respondents reported using a personal computer for one to three hours per week with word processing, email and Internet as the top three applications. The study also found that 58% of the respondents used computers in their FSL teaching. However, this reflected that almost half of the reported users in teaching did not use computers in their personal lives. Of the reported 41% that did not use computers in FSL they cited lack of access, knowledge of technology integration, and evidence of effectiveness, along with the belief that computers took too much time.

Ertmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich (2010) recounted data from studies exemplifying use is more teacher-centered, "low-level" such as instructional material with little interaction or "facilitate student learning" through computers to assist with written or research homework, practice, or other administrative tasks, such as checking grades online (p. 256). "High-level" uses of technology tend to be more student-centered (p. 262). In terms of technology, studentcentered learning has been described by Ted McCain as "to promote student learning through collaborative involvement in authentic, challenging, multidisciplinary tasks by providing realistic complex environments for student inquiry, furnishing information and tools to support investigation, and linking classrooms for joint investigations" (as cited in Ertmer et. al. 2012, p. 424). As part of the journey to integrate more meaningful, student-centered learning, teachers need to possess a "strong self-efficacy" (Ertmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2010) to stay current with technology tools and pedagogical concerns. Researchers further suggested that time is important for both "digital natives" and "digital immigrants"/ novice and experienced teachers to build confidence and familiarity (Meskill, et al., 2002; Sokolik, 2006).

Technology Training

In addition to the necessary infrastructure and equipment (including hardware and software), educator training has been found to be an important investment (Warschauer & Meskill, 2000). As technology keeps advancing, some educators and administrators feel left behind. Campus Computing Project's 2013 Survey of 451 senior technology information officers and officials at U.S. colleges found that assisting faculty use and integration of technology was a top priority for the next two to three years (Green, 2013). However, providing training takes time, money and know-how.

It is well cited in literature that while individual comfort with technology is a factor in technology integration; instructors need additional training in technology tools themselves as well as pedagogical purposes for its integration into language learning (Warschauer 2002; Ertmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2010; Richards, 2011; Motteram, 2013; Pour, 2013). Researchers have argued that professional development at both the pre-service and in-service levels is necessary.

(Metskill, Mossop, DiAngelo, & Pasquale, 2002; Emert & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2010; & Kim, Rueckert, Kim, & Seo, 2013).

As vividly apparent in the literature, teacher training has emerged as fundamental to the success or failure of technology integration and CALL to language learning. Researchers have indicated that many TESOL (Teaching English to Speakers of Other Languages) graduate and undergraduate programs do not include adequate instruction of technology integration (Valzquez-Torres, 2006). Philip Hubbard (2008) suggested "there is evidence that language teachers are leaving their certification and degree programs with little or nothing in the way of formal training in the use of technology in language training" (p. 176). Hubbard further offered seven possible explanations as to why teacher training programs are not drawing short on adequate pre-service training: 1. Inertia (maintaining status quo); 2. Ignorance; 3. Insufficient time; 4. Insufficient infrastructure; 5. Insufficient standards; 6. Lack of established methodology; and 7. Lack of experienced, knowledgeable educators (pp. 177-178). Students completing technology training as part of their TESOL MA program at California State University, Los Angeles, reported the "know-how" was an added benefit to their job search in a very competitive market (Snow, 2005, p. 266).

Once a language educator graduates with technology training and skills, it is a neverending process to stay current. In some institutions, technology is mandated and teachers are forced to use them, and play catch-up in the learning process. While pre-service training can be controlled by the program objectives, in-service training might not be as successful, if it is not required or compensated (Hubbard, 2008). Miles Turnbull and Geoff Lawrence's (2002) study of Canadian K-12 schools found that only a small number of their participants (FSL teachers) received technology training from their institutions. Even fewer respondents reported that they taught themselves, paid for outside training, or learned from colleagues, friends, family members, or students.

In addition to staying current in the tools available, another challenge educators face has been understanding the vast varieties of devices, especially if students are using their own devices (Kukulska-Hume, 2006). Gone are the days of Apple's Macintosh and Microsoft Operating Systems as the main distinction between computer users. Today, the expanding mobile device market is making it more difficult for educators to stay current on features and limitations of various devices, platforms, and operating systems. The use of mobile devices is still in its infancy, and possibilities for the future are endless.

The literature notes that there are various approaches to teacher training and professional development in regards to technology tools for language teaching.

Teacher learning need not be restricted to the classroom where one teaches. Teachers certainly learn within their classrooms – from themselves while teaching and from students while learning. However, teachers are situated in a variety of other opportunities in which learning takes place: in-service, workshops, structured courses, faculty and district meetings, and school-based professional conversations (Wenzlaff & Wieseman, 2004, p. 113).

For some, it begins with an overview course, multiple classes / projects, or specific in-depth training on a particular tool or practice, perhaps in a classroom with a lecture, demonstration, or workshop. A growing source of training has been found online, as it can offer cost-efficient ways to provide courses or specific information about a certain topic; and lends well to self-directed learning patterns. Collaboration from friends and colleagues, or in "discourse communities" (Putnam & Borko, 2000), has become another major source of training and idea
exchanges. Learning research shows that knowledge can be socially constructed (Larsen-Freeman & Anderson, 2011; Brown, 2007; Wenzlaff & Wieseman, 2004; & Putnam & Borko, 2000). Especially for experienced professionals, the discourse community provides for intellectual exchange during professional development settings. Modeling is one method in which training occurs, and can be done in a classroom setting, online or through collaboration. Oftentimes, self-acquisition of technology skills is useful, as too much saturation or too little information can be over/underwhelming to the teacher. Some of the literature has suggested a mixed approach where basics are taught explicitly with time to practice and then further exploration via online resources or self-study.

There is a growing body of literature that offers teachers resources in two dominant categories. The first category consists of instructional reference material, which appears in several versions. There is an extensive collection of training materials and resources available in print and online. These articles, help forums, digital videos, and books instruct teachers about the merits of these different forms as well as suggest how to incorporate them into their repertoire. Some materials have been produced by textbook authors, researchers, teachers, and publishing companies. Creators and inventors of certain products and technology tools have designed training resources as well, or ways to access help. Additionally, institutions and departments have often offered design training and development materials, in a digital format or in a face-to-face session. Perhaps one of the fastest growing areas for resources are those that have been created by and for a community of teachers – including website forums / discussion boards, and a plethora of diverse videos (especially available on YouTube) and podcasts. The second category of literature is based on studies and reports about specific technology tools.

These scholarly reports have documented the effectiveness, outcomes, benefits, and criticism of individual or combined technology tools used in language teaching.

Pedagogical Training

"Above all else, the language profession must move beyond a simple computer functional competence (knowing how to use the tools) toward both a critical competence (realizing what the tools are good for) and then, finally to a rhetorical competence (understanding how these tools will help transform the learning environment)" (Blake, 2013). Therefore, it has become imperative for instructors to have a solid foundation of various language teaching approaches and methods (similar to those discussed above), sociocultural perspectives of language learning, and SLA theories. Understanding language learning and the methodologies are important if teachers are going to effectively use methodologies and develop material (Gass, 2013, p. 2). Some of the benefits of language learning technology have been rooted in SLA theories. Researchers have reported affordances that technology can offer to second and foreign language instruction; including learner autonomy, collaboration, community building, motivation, reduced affective filter, interaction with authentic resources, realized acquisition, identity, and personal development, etc.

"Teachers should always remember that in language learning, no particular technology is superior to any other tool; it is all in the way the activities are implemented to engage and foster the student's own sense of agency" (Blake, 2013, p. xvii). Furthermore, the plethora of options can leave instructors questioning pedagogically sound reasons for implementing technology into instruction, as opposed to utilizing technology simply because it is available. Graham Stanley (2013) called this decision making process "a principled approach." This is not a localized sentiment to North America. The United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) Institute for Information Technology in Education (2004) stated:

The positive affordances of ICTs (Information & Communication Technologies) in FLT / FLL (foreign language teaching / foreign language learning) have been recognised in most educational contexts; the technology and materials are available, but ongoing training is essential if we are to reap the benefits of the rich learning environment. As training and education become increasingly time and place independent, new models must be found to integrate the new media into a principled approach to integrate the new media into a principled approach to teaching and learning, which enriches and supplements traditional materials and well-tried delivery systems in existing institutions

(p. 7).

Time

Time has also been cited as being a contributing factor as to how teachers integrate or shun technology integration. One way to strengthen the teachers' skills and confidence with technology is to provide "time to play with the technology" (Bridget Somekh, 2008, as cited in Ertmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2010, p. 261). In addition to dedicated training time, researchers have reported that once teachers have the necessary skills, they need time to be able to make practical applications of the tools into their teaching. Oftentimes, those who are underprepared are using the tools ineffectively. As there are a myriad of new tools and applications, technology integration takes time, even for a skilled instructor. Software / application updates provide new features or fix bugs; however, there is also a learning curve to use these tools. While some administrative tools add to an instructor's efficiency, there have also been reported downsides (e.g. information loss) should they fail. Additionally, when learners are using a hybrid or

blended class environment (i.e. combining the traditional face-to-face classroom with an online environment), the teacher's time investment becomes a critical component for feedback, accessibility, and interaction with the learners. Increased accessibility corresponds to some educators feeling like the workday never ends. Finally, creating meaningful technology lessons or activities often take more time to develop than a traditional lesson. Finding the appropriate resources, adapting or creating new material, testing technology, and having a "plan B" for when the technology does not work all require time commitments.

Survey of Technology Tools Used in Post Secondary Language Education

In addition to changing needs of the learners, technology has also ushered in additional applications to enhance the educational environment through administration, communication, instruction, engagement, connecting students with authentic resources, assessment, and evaluation of language learning. Some of the new resources are designed with language learning in mind (CALL and MALL), while others use applications designed for other purposes (Computer Mediated Communication – CMC, gaming, virtual worlds, word processing, Internet, etc.). In a world of constant technological changes, instructors are faced with adapting, creating, and searching for new material with meaningful content. Whether teachers are digital natives or digital immigrants, they must make choices that determine what and how technology is integrated into their teaching, in a face-to-face and/or online environment. As previously mentioned, there is extensive SLA research to support the use of various forms of present-day technology tools.

Course Management Systems (CMS) / Learning Management Systems (LMS)

CMS or LMS (e.g. Moodle, Desire2Learn, BlackBoard) are software applications to foster e-learning by mostly administrative means. Features of CMS / LMS are largely

managerial, as in they allow teachers to organize and distribute teaching materials and resources; report grades, track progress, and provide feedback; serve as a vehicle for assignment collection; etc. However, with the exception for facilitating learner engagement through emails or discussion boards / forums, these systems are mostly teacher centered and provide little interaction between students. Therefore, many of the functions of CMS / LMS are teacher centered, as they present instructional or administrative information. Conversely, they offer the teacher efficient ways to connect with their students, as the systems are accessible via the Internet or other networked connections.

Computer Mediated Communication (CMC)

As described above, CMC facilitates communication via two or more electronic devices (interlocutors using pragmatic rules such as turn-taking behaviors). Basically, it has moved faceto-face and handwritten correspondences into the digital age. As technology keeps progressing the scope of this field keeps increasing. However, there still exist two categories within CMC. Synchronous applications include those interactions, which are simultaneous such as instant messaging, chatrooms, telephoning, Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) and video conferencing. Asynchronous methods include email, discussion boards / forums, listservs, blogs, wikis, and RSS feeds, are also able to allow users to "publish" work. Additionally, as technology advances, these tools have become more readily available, less expensive, and operate through expanding options of computers and mobile devices. The future of CMC also includes more integration with artificial intelligence in the form of voice recognizing software (which can also analyze learners' speech) and chatterbots (i.e. Apple's Siri). Successful integration of CMC tools in language teaching can create a more student centered learning environment. There has been a burgeoning number of studies on the various CMC tools. However, since social media falls under the umbrella of CMC, it has created a whole new area for research studies related to language learning through these tools. Carla Meskill and Joy Quah claimed that "the bulk of the research data is comprised of transcripts of online interactions with three foregrounded foci emerging: focus on the environment, focus on the socio/affective outcomes and focus on pedagogy" (2012, p. 51).

The Internet and World Wide Web

Researchers have reported that the introduction of the Internet has been perhaps one of the greatest tools to language learning. Not only has the Internet opened an infinite number of possibilities on the World Wide Web, it has also created global connections that were previously not possible. In addition to a venue for connecting with other humans, the Internet has helped foster learning in new ways. Webquests are activities where learners use the Internet to search the World Wide Web in order to solve a specific task. Activities address target vocabulary and inductive syntax imbedded in real-world sources. Additionally, learners explore content and culture in the target language. Research emulates an authentic native speaker task. This taskbased and content-based learning activity focuses on reading (or listening). Writing can be added by answering questions, creating a report, and speaking can be supported by working in pairs or small groups.

Web 2.0

Web 2.0 has advanced the notion of the World Wide Web for just receiving information from static sites to creating spaces for users to interact and collaborate with each other. Social networking has become its primary function. It has ushered in social media, creating virtual communities and forums for both synchronous and asynchronous forms of CMC to engage in language learning. Additionally, it allows users to build joint documents and share digital information. As mobile devices have become less expensive and more commonplace, Web 2.0 tools are becoming more widely available to language teachers and learners. Furthermore, "the wide availability of Web 2.0 tools has made access to powerful communication and collaboration tools almost a 'non-issue' for any teacher who has Internet access in his/her classroom" (Ertmer, et. al., 2012, p. 424). Unfortunately, as both MALL and Web 2.0 are still in their infancy, there are not many empirical studies on these technologies; however, their use is based on SLA theoretical paradigms (Jee, 2011). Common Web 2.0 tools include: blogs (e.g. Blogger), microblogs (e.g. Twitter), audioblogs, vlogging / video blogging (e.g. widely available on YouTube), wikis, social networking sites (e.g. Facebook, LinkedIn), and other sharing applications (e.g. Flickr, Glogster, GoogleDocs, WordPress), to name a few.

Digital Recordings

Audio and video recording allows students to collect new information, and also serve as a valuable self-assessment tool. Students can create digital recordings for the purpose of gathering new information, role-playing, practicing pronunciation, building fluency, and obtaining language samples for further analysis. Additionally, video recording provides learners a chance to become aware of non-verbal elements that accompany their own speech. Digital recording also offers students the opportunity to re-record as many times as they would like to keep perfecting their product. The finished product can be used for a formal assessment, benchmark piece, or added to a portfolio. Furthermore, the accessibility of digital recordings and videos allow students opportunities to explore the language with many linguistic, paralinguistic, and sociocultural benefits. The World Wide Web, Web 2.0, and other digital devices / tools have helped to stimulate the accessibility of audio files (e.g. music, electronic books, sound

recordings, ALM exercises, news / media resources, etc.), podcasts and videos to provide authentic learning experiences.

Digital Storytelling

In digital storytelling, learners have an opportunity to create a multi-media presentation by capturing and sharing acquired information or to create original pieces integrating different forms of media and practicing various linguistic elements. Judith Rance-Roney described digital storytelling as "a 2-5 minute movie-like digital production that learners create using one of several readily available software programs" (2008, p. 29). She cautioned, "digital storytelling itself is not the goal but only one of several vehicles through which students can practice language and showcase what they can do with it (p. 29). Besides developing language skills, learners are enhancing presentation and computer skills. This type of activity can help students move through the process of brainstorming, researching, drafting, editing, recording, and revising phases to allow for learning through feedback. Depending on the technology used, students can create formal presentations better suited for face-to-face environments or shared in an online environment. Building on community, collaboration, and communication, the product can be created individually, in pairs, or in small groups. Finally, projects like these allow students to take ownership of their work, have a product that can be placed in a portfolio, and give them a voice in a new language. In sum, digital storytelling is very student centered.

Games and Virtual Realities

"Classroom based games motivate students to engage in L2 practice with exercises involving dice, cards, and other props that stimulate thinking and provoke pleasure and/or productive competition" (Blake, 2013, p. 165). While games found online are not designed the same (different number of users, tasks, rewards, etc.), they allow for play. "The cognitive or

psychological benefits of play are certainly real, whereas the potential risks are minimized or even nonexistent in the play environment" (p. 166). Furthermore, play helps create a more "student-centered, student-driven classroom" (p.174). Since the Net Generation spends a large amount of time engaged in videogames, researchers and educators are investigating the connections between these online environments and language learning (Goodwin-Jones, 2005).

Another emerging area in the field of language instruction is *Gamification*, where principles of games are applied to language learning. Research often cites the work of the Russian psychologist Lev Vygotsky. However, there have been games designed specifically for language instruction, and others that were intended for native speakers but have become popular with language learners. Virtual realities (e.g. Second Life) provide users an experience in which they are able to "live" in a virtual world and communicate / interact through an avatar with others. This is also supported through CMC, and there are scores of other online resources to assist users in the game. "Whilst not specifically designed as a language-learning resource, it does nevertheless provide the potential for interaction within a realistic, social, immersive setting that has the capacity to support learners in their attempts to construct meaning" (Kervin & Derwianka, 2011, p. 332). While SLA researcher perspectives on the language learner's benefits from virtual games vary (Meskill & Quah, 2012), "for many students, the advantage lies in being able to transfer the linguistic skills acquired in the virtual world to the real one" (Levy, 2009, p. 777).

CHAPTER III: METHODS

For this research study, I followed a descriptive design to investigate and capture post secondary language instructors' self-reported behaviors and opinions about technology integration. The descriptive design of this study was well suited to yield a portrait or snapshot of the current language educators (including some of their beliefs), what technologies they were currently using, and which domains they were using technology. A close-ended survey (with occasional optional "other" responses) was developed as the instrument for data collection. Figure 1 depicts the study design.



Figure 1. Study Design

As this was a survey based on technology, it seemed appropriate to develop a brief (approximately 10-minute), four-part questionnaire created using *Qualtrics Survey Software* and distribute it through email, targeting language instructors in domestic post secondary institutions

with language teaching responsibilities. I set specific criteria for the participant in the study, and this information was included in the email inviting involvement in the study. Specifically: *be a faculty member or graduate student with language teaching responsibilities at the University of Colorado Boulder or a language educator affiliated with another post secondary / higher-education institution or program.* Language was defined as *a second / foreign language or bilingual program: i.e. English as a Second Language – ESL, French as a Foreign Language, Bilingual English-Spanish, etc. Computer languages (i.e., C++) and sign languages were excluded.* The Institutional Review Board reviewed this study.

Using a digital survey as the instrument for data collection allowed for a wider population pool of participants meeting the above stated criteria than utilizing focus groups or individual interviews. Capturing identifiable information was irrelevant as follow up discussions were not necessary with the participants. Additionally, the survey was completely anonymous³. Therefore, participants were free to answer openly and honestly without coercion, posing no adverse influences on the data. This study did not involve vulnerable populations, and assumed a minimum age of a graduate student (at least age 20). Overall, the digital survey was of minimal risk to the participants. Following Institutional Review Board protocol, participants received an informed consent statement and were free to withdraw from the survey at any point without adverse reaction. To help keep the data clean, data from partially completed surveys were not recorded for analysis. While a preliminary study (i.e. pilot or feasibility) was not conducted, a draft of the questionnaire was tested by a few colleagues meeting the participation criteria to ensure that the survey was not included in the actual analysis.)

³ *Qualtrics Survey Software* assigned a response code for each completed survey, and did not identify the participant's IP address.

A minimum population of 20 (fully completed surveys / recorded responses) was desired; however, due to the nature of the distribution it was possible that more post secondary language instructors would participate, and an exact number of invited participants was unknown. In the end, 22 completed responses were collected between May 6 and May 13, 2014. Although 22 might seem to be a rather small population size, it was adequate to analyze and represent trends in the data. In the literature, studies examining different aspects of technology in language instruction had smaller population sizes. A study by Meskill, Mossop, DiAngelo and Pasquale (2002) examined the use of technology in K-8 teachers, both experienced and novice, and had only eight participants. While more completed questionnaires would have naturally afforded a larger amount of data, this study could provide a preliminary basis for a more expansive survey of this nature or identify potential areas for future qualitative or empirical studies.

Survey Questions and Data Analysis

The close-ended questions were carefully designed from research, exploration of various devices / applications / programs, and consultation with others to be able to capture data to answer the four guiding research questions. The questionnaire (available in Appendix 2) consisted of four parts:

Part 1: Biographical & Institutional Information – In order to discover who the current language teachers are collectively, participants provided answers to 9 questions. These questions provided variables for which samples could be examined, e.g., age and total number of years teaching language (independent variables). These two independent variables were important for answering the first guiding research questions: Does the length of language teaching experience or the instructor's age relate to his / her use of technology in personal and professional domains?

Instead of asking for a job title (e.g. professor, instructor, lecturer, teaching assistant, etc.), it was more logical to ask about the number of years teaching language. (i.e. A graduate student teaching assistant might have 10 or more years of language teaching experience and a particular lecturer may only have three years of experience.) Based on the concepts of digital natives and digital immigrants, age compared with the amount of personal / professional use of technology provided a way to analyze the idea of who used technology and in which domains. Both age and teaching experience yield data to support and refute documented beliefs that novice teachers do not possess necessary training / skills to integrate technology or have enough "selfefficacy" (Etmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2010) in their own teaching abilities. In terms of defining the number of years that qualify a teacher as novice and experienced is subject of debate. Emphasis is typically placed on the first year of instruction. For the purposes of this study, the data based on teaching experience allowed me to group the participants into three groups: novice (possessing three years or less of experience), experienced 1 (having more than three years to 10 years in the field), and experienced 2 (having 11 or more years of experience). Three groups were selected to specifically look at the difference between those teachers with more experience (11 years or more) and those with experience in the field (for 3+-10 years).

As for grouping participants according to age, I classified participants by ten-year spans. Since there is no definitive start and end year for the Net Generation (a.k.a. Millennials, Generation Y), I decided to categorize participants reporting their age as 20-29 as members (born 1984/5 - 1994/5) in one group, and those reporting age 40 and above in a second group. The participants reporting their age between 30-39 were placed in a group by themselves because they comprised the largest number of participants per 10 year age bracket, and were classified into *experienced 1* or *experienced 2* groups. Other Part 1 questions were used as independent variables when examined in relationship with responses in Parts 2, 3, and 4.

Part 2: Personal Technology Use – Technology tools used in the personal domain is one indication of the teachers' skills, which are a necessary foundation (Ertmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2010). Participants answered three questions describing the personal devices they owned (e.g. computer, smartphone, or other mobile device). If a positive response was recorded, they were asked if that device was used for professional purposes. Additionally, they were asked if in their personal life they used 20 different functions of the devices. Data from these questions provided insight to the teachers' personal use when compared with demographics in Part 1 and professional use in Part 3.

Part 3: Technology Use in Teaching – In addition to having the knowledge of technology tools themselves, teachers need to possess confidence and command of which tools provide appropriate pedagogical support for learning (Ertmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, 2010). Participants are asked to report on their professional use of technology, including delivery of instructional content, use of a CMS / LMS, professional website and content, and types of technology resources used in the face-to-face or blended classroom environments.

Although teachers, especially digital natives, might possess technology skills, Ertmer & Otterbreit-Leftwich (2010) wrote that many teachers only use "Low-Level," technology, that is the types of tools used are not very supportive of student centered learning, rather "support traditional, teacher-directed instruction... or focus on the development of students' technical skills" (p. 256).

Although technology is used in instructional delivery, much of the technology use is still teacher-centered. While necessary, teacher-centered delivery of content often does not require

students to interact with the material. Methods such as Clickers (portable devices that allow student participants to interact with the instructor in real time during a face-to-face class) and Flipped Classroom Material (instructional content presented to the student prior to discussion or instruction in the face-to-face classroom) can engage students at either a "low" or "high" level. For example, if Clickers are used for attendance taking purpose, then the tool is used more for administrative and teacher-centered purposes. However, if the learners are interacting with the instructor though quizzes or surveys, the instructor is immediately able to gauge understanding and proceed accordingly, which could result in a more student-centered learning experience. Similarly, if material presented in a Flipped Classroom does not require the students to interface with the resources other than absorbing content through a video, audio, or text passage, the instructional delivery is again a low level of technology usage. Table 3 depicts the use of technology in instructional delivery.

 Table 3: Instructional Content Delivery

Teacher Centered	Student Centered	Teacher or Student Centered (depending on usage)
Audio	Mobile device,	Clickers
	computer, or	
	smartphone	
Chalkboard or dry erase		Flipped Classroom
board		(students watch tutorials
		/ read instructional
		content prior to class)
Digital presentations		
Overhead projector with		
transparencies		
Videos		

While providing efficiency for instructors and increased accessibility to resources for learners, CMS / LMS functions are mostly teacher-centered. Core to the concept of CMS / LMS,

these online systems allow instructors to provide a visible space for class administration, enabling students with controlled access to receive course materials, submit assignments, see grades and/or attendance, which are all low level uses of technology. While teachers are afforded other benefits of the systems, such as ability to check for plagiarism and act as assessment tools (surveys, quizzes), these functions are largely teacher-centered. However, if a teacher uses features enabling interaction between students or students and other speakers of the language, such as discussion boards / chat rooms, class blogs, and gaming, the CMS / LMS becomes more student-centered. Table 4 illustrates the various functions of a CSM (e.g. Desire2Learn) in terms of teacher and student centeredness.

Teacher Centered	Student Centered	Teacher & Student Centered (depending on usage)
Attendance tracking *	Discussion boards or chat rooms	Quizzes *
Check for plagiarism *	Gaming	Surveys *
Dropbox for students to submit assignments *	Unlocking features (students complete certain tasks or receive certain scores to receive additional assignments or rewards) *	
Grade book *		
Post homework *		
Post optional reading, video, or audio files *		
Post pre-class assignments (flipped classroom materials) *		

 Table 4: CMS / LMS Functions

* Notes the function as administrative or instructional delivery in nature.

Relationships of the data from Part 2 and 3 provide answers to the second and third guiding research questions.

Guiding research question 2: Are there associations between the instructors' personal use of technology on the one hand and their professional uses of technology on the other?

Guiding research question 3: Are there associations between the types of technology used across instructors' professional and personal domains?

To compare responses to questions about tool functions asked in Part 2 with those asked in Part 3, there had to be a connection between the applications. Therefore, each tool function was classified into one of six categories based on its purpose. The seven categories include: administrative, collaborative, communication, information, multimedia, social media, and a miscellaneous category of other. While some tools differed between the personal and professional domains, this categorization system allows for transfer of similar purpose. Table 5 shows the categorization of the tools in both domains by the seven categories of purpose.

Τ	`able	e 5:	Tool	Function	ns in .	Personal	and l	Prof	fessional	l Domai	ns

	Personal Domain		Professional Domain			
Type of Function	Personal Use Functions	Professional Use Functions	Instructional Delivery	CSM or Professional Website		
Administrative	Calculator			Grade Book		
	Calendar or reminders (e.g. appointments, tasks, etc.)			Attendance tracking		
	Clock (including alarm clock, stopwatch, timer, etc.)			Check for plagiarism		
				Dropbox for students to submit assignments		
				Post homework assignments		
				Quizzes		
				Surveys		

TECHNOLOGY IN LANGUAGE EDUCATION

Collaborative	Access, create, share, edit, or retrieve documents stored on the cloud (e.g. Dropbox, Evernote, Google Docs, etc.)	Shared documents (students collaborate to create documents / presentations)		
		W 1K1S		
Communication	Email	Email		
	Telephone			
	Video chats (e.g. Facetime, Google Hangout, ooVoo, Skype, etc.)	Voice over IP applications (e.g. Skype, ooVoo, etc.)		
Information	Internet browsing or searches	WebQuests (students find information on the Internet)		
	News or weather source	Online dictionaries / concordancers		Optional assignments / readings/ materials
	Specific programs or applications (incl. business, GPS or navigation, graphic design, food & drink, finance, health & fitness, hobby, home & garden, kids, lifestyle, medical, reference, shopping, sports, travel, etc.)	Language specific programs		
Multimedia	Audio recorder	Student audio / video recordings		
	Music (e.g. GarageBand, mp3 player, podcasts, web radio, etc.)	Audio files	Audio	
	Photo or video (incl. camera, editing, sharing, storage)	Digital storytelling (e.g. Camtasia Studio, iMovie, PowerPoint with voice over, VoiceThread, etc.)		
	Video watching or sharing (e.g. Hulu, Netflix, TED, YouTube, etc.)	Videos / other digital images	Flipped classroom (students watch tutorials / read instructional content prior to class)	Post pre-class assignments (flipped classroom materials)
		Podcasts / videocasts	Videos	Post required videos or audio files
		Audio labs		
		Repetitive audio drills		

TECHNOLOGY IN LANGUAGE EDUCATION

Social Media	Blogging	Blogs (audio or text)		
	Instant messages, chatrooms, texting	Bulletin or discussion boards		Discussion boards or chatrooms
	Social media (e.g. Facebook, Foursquare, Instagram, LinkedIn, Pinterest, Twitter, etc.)	Social Media (e.g. Facebook, Twitter, etc.)		
Other	Documents or presentations (e.g. word processing, spreadsheets, presentations)	Word processing	Digital presentations (e.g. Keynote, PowerPoint, Prezi, etc.)	
	Games	Digital games (designed for language pedagogy)		Gaming
		Digital games (other)		Games (or links to games)
		Virtual worlds (e.g. Second Life, Twinity, etc.)		Unlocking features (students complete certain tasks or receive certain scores to receive additional assignments or rewards)
	Reading			Required readings
				go

Data reported on Table 5 was then further analyzed to determine the usage level of each category by the average number of participants reporting. A four-tiered usage system (High Use = 17-22 participants, Medium-High Use = 11-16 participants, Medium-Low Use = 6-10 participants, and Low Use = 0-5 participants) was used to compare the six categories across the two domains.

Part 4: Opinions About Technology Use – Participants evaluated 12 statements on a Likert scale specifying their level of agreement or disagreement. Ertmer & Ottenbreit-Leftwich (2010) examined the teachers as an agent of technology integration and their belief systems played an important role in "leveraging technology resources as meaningful pedagogical tools" (p. 255). The twelve questions served as variables to examine relationships across data from the other three parts. Part 4 questions are important variables to answer the fourth guiding question:

What do instructors view as constraints or support for their use of technology in their language teaching practices?

CHAPTER IV: FINDINGS

The findings are organized by: Participants, Technology Usage, Technology Tools, Instructional Content Delivery and CMS / LMS, Comfort and Interest Perceptions, and finally Technology Training.

Participants

Overall, there were 25 participants that began the online survey, with 22 fully completing the survey. Therefore, data used for the analysis were produced from the 22 participants. The majority of the respondents (18 out of 20) reported teaching at a College or University. Only two respondents (out of 20) reported teaching private clients. Of the 18 participants at a College or University, four taught in a Foreign Language Program (i.e. Modern Languages), 13 taught at an Intensive English Program (IEP), one taught in a Second Language Program (e.g. English as a Second Language, Spanish as a Second Language), none taught in a Teacher Training/Development Program, and one reported an undefined *Other*. Language instructors reported (out of 20) the length of one instructional session / period: 14 in a 5-8 week session, seven in a 9-16 week session, and one with open enrollment (i.e. no start or end date).

There was a diversity of languages present within the study group. Although there were five first languages (L1) reported (19 out of 22 participants), the majority of the participants declared English as their L1. Several of the instructors reported teaching more than one language, including Second Languages (L2). Table 6 shows teacher languages, both their mother tongue and the language in which they instruct.

Language	First Language	Language of Instruction
Arabic	2	1
Chinese	1	0
English	14	16
French	0	0
German	0	1
Italian	0	0
Japanese	1	2
Korean	0	0
Russian	0	2
Spanish	1	3
Other	0	2
Other: Czech	0	1
Total	19	28

 Table 6: Teacher Language

The survey population was comprised of participants ranging in age from 20 to 60+. Since the participants' exact age was not asked, the average age of the participants in the population or samples is unknown. There was no clear correspondence between the participants' age and their experience level. For example, not all of the 20-29 aged participants were novice teachers, or all of the respondents in the 40+ age group fit into the experienced 2 category. Table 7 depicts the participants by age, and Table 8 shows participants categorized by the number of years of language teaching experience.

Table 7: Participants' Age

Age	Responses	%
20-29 Years Old	5	23%
30-39 Years Old	9	41%
40 + Years Old	8	36%
Total	22	100%

Experience	Responses	%	Average Experience in years
0-3 Years (Novice)	4	18%	x = 2.125
4-10 Years (Experienced 1)	9	41%	x = 6.056
11+ Years (Experienced 2)	9	41%	x = 18.667
Total	22	100%	$\mu = 10.5$

 Table 8: Years of Language Teaching Experience

Technology Usage

In terms of personal devices: 100% of the participants reported owning a personal computer (which 100% were also used for professional purposes); 86% (18 out of 21) reported owning a smartphone (e.g. Android, Blackberry, iPhone, Samsung, etc.); and 64% (14 out of 22) disclosed owning a tablet or other mobile device (e.g. Android, Google, iPad, Kindle, Microsoft, Nook, Samsung, etc.). Additionally, many of the respondents stated that they used their mobile devices (e.g. smartphones, tablets, etc.) for professional purposes.

Technology Tools

Participants reported more use of technology tools in their personal life than for professional purposes. As previously stated, the various types of functions available on a technology device (e.g. computer, smartphone, tablet, etc.) or through a program, such as a CMS / LMS, were categorized into six purposes of functions: administrative, collaborative, communication, information, multimedia, social media, and other (including word processing and reading device). (Appendix C contains charts detailing the results of various tools grouped

by seven categories.) Table 9 illustrates how much each category was used by the participants in

both personal and professional domains.

Type of Function	Personal Domain	Professional Domain			
Administrative	High Use	Medium-Low Use			
Collaborative	High Use	Low Use			
Communication	High Use	Medium-High Use			
Information	High Use	Medium-High Use			
Multimedia	High Use	Medium-Low Use			
Social Media	High Use	Low Use			
Other Medium-High Use Medium-Low Use					
High Use = 17-22 participants Medium-High Use = 11-16 participants Medium-Low Use = 6-10 participants Low Use = 0-5 participants					

 Table 9: Use of Tool Functions Across Domains

In the personal domain, participants across age groups and experience levels reported using the various functions and applications very highly. Some of the features that received 100% usage across the various sample groups included: email, Internet browsing, photo or video (including camera, editing, sharing, storage). The two features that received the least overall usage included blogging (14%) and games (57%). Within these two categories, the younger survey participants (20-29 age group) and those with with experience played more games and reported blogging more.

In contrast, comparable functions of technology devices used for professional purposes in teaching were used far less frequently. For example, while in the personal domain, instructors reported 95% usage of Internet browsing or searches and using it as a news or weather source, only 14% of the teachers reported using WebQuests (explained on the survey as *students find information on the Internet*) with their students. Similarly, 95% of the respondents reported

watching videos on their technology devices for personal use, and only 77% provided students with videos and other digital images in their professional domain.

Although 100% of the respondents reported using computers, only 59% used computer labs with their students. Likewise, 86% reported using the cloud to store and share personal documents, but only 32% had students use shared documents.

Instructors reported 100% using instant messages, chatrooms, and texting, and 91% utilizing popular social and professional social media sites in their personal life. However, only 9% reported using social media sites with their students.

Instructional Content Delivery and CMS / LMS

Participants reported using various types of methods for delivering instructional content, with the majority reporting teacher-centered presentation methods. Table 10 presents the order in which teachers reported the method in which they present instruction (noting centeredness).

 Table 10: Instructional Content Delivery

		Reporting
Order	Delivery Method	(out of
		22)
1	Chalkboard or dry erase board (teacher-centered)	22
2	Videos (teacher-centered)	21
3	Digital presentations (teacher-centered)	20
4	Audio (teacher-centered)	19
5	Mobile device, computer, or smartphone (student-	18
	centered)	10
6	Flipped classroom (either - depending on use)	8
7	Overhead projector with transparencies (teacher-	3
/	centered)	5
8	Clickers (either - depending on use)	1

As described previously, CMS / LMS are typically very teacher-centered. Out of the entire survey population, only 14 of the 22 (64%) participants shared that they used a CMS / LMS. Of the possible uses of the systems, only three CMS / LMS users utilized student-centered

features (two using discussion boards or chat rooms, and one using gaming features). The most frequently used functions were as a grade book, a check for plagiarism, a location for students to submit work, and a space to post class related material.

Comfort and Interest Perceptions

In terms of perceptions, teachers overall reported a rather neutral sense ($\mu = 3.55$ on a scale of 5, with 1 being in complete agreement and 5 complete disagreement) towards the statement, "I find technology to be frustrating." The 30-39 age group reported finding technology less frustrating than the other two age groups (followed by the 20-29 age group and finally the 40+ age group). When examining the experience levels, the novice group expressed the least amount of frustration ($\bar{x} = 4.25$), followed by the experienced 1 group ($\bar{x} = 4$), and finally experienced 2 group ($\bar{x} = 3.11$). Table 11 illustrates the perceptions gauging participant frustration with technology.

Population / Sample	Agree	Somewhat	Neutral	Somewhat	Disagree	Total	Mean*
i opulation / Sample	Completely	Agree	incuttat	Disagree	Completely	Responses	Wiean
Total Population	0	6	3	8	5	22	3.55
Age 20-29	0	1	1	2	1	5	3.6
Age 30-39	0	1	1	4	3	9	4
Age 40+	0	4	1	2	1	8	3
Novice	0	0	0	3	1	4	4.25
Experienced #1	0	1	1	4	3	9	4
Experienced #2	0	2	2	1	2	9	3.11
Mean*							
Agree Completely	1						
Somewhat Agree	2						
Neutral	3						
Somewhat Disagree	4						
Disagree Completely	5						

Table 11: Perception: I find technology to be frustrating.

Although there are some mixed feelings about technology frustration, overall the instructors reported self-interest to learn new things by using technology ($\mu = 1.73$). This was

supported in the various samples of the total population. Table 12 depicts the responses to the statement, "I like learning new things by using technology."

Population / Sample	Agree	Somewhat	Neutral	Somewhat	Disagree	Total	Mean*
Topulation / Sumple	Completely	Agree	rtoutiai	Disagree	Completely	Responses	wiedli
Total Population	10	8	4	0	0	22	1.73
Age 20-29	2	2	1	0	0	5	1.8
Age 30-39	6	1	2	0	0	9	1.56
Age 40+	2	5	1	0	0	8	1.88
Novice	1	2	1	0	0	4	2.5
Experienced #1	6	1	2	0	0	9	1.56
Experienced #2	3	3	3	0	0	9	2
Mean*							
Agree Completely	1						
Somewhat Agree	2						
Neutral	3						
Somewhat Disagree	4						
Disagree Completely	5						

 Table 12: Perception: I like learning new things by using technology.

Finally, respondents reported fairly strong interest to incorporate more technology into their future teaching repertoire ($\mu = 1.41$). Again, this remained consistent among the various sample groups. Table 13 presents the responses to the statement, "In the future, I would like to use more technology tools in my teaching."

Population / Sample	Agree	Somewhat	Neutral	Somewhat	Disagree	Total	Mean*
r opulation / Sumple	Completely	Agree	routiui	Disagree	Completely	Responses	mean
Total Population	14	7	1	0	0	22	1.41
Age 20-29	3	2	0	0	0	5	1.4
Age 30-39	5	3	1	0	0	9	1.56
Age 40+	6	2	0	0	0	8	1.25
Novice	3	1	0	0	0	4	1.25
Experienced #1	5	3	1	0	0	9	1.56
Experienced #2	6	2	1	0	0	9	1.44
Mean*							
Agree Completely	1						
Somewhat Agree	2						
Neutral	3						
Somewhat Disagree	4						
Disagree Completely	5						

Table 13: Perception: In the future, I would like to use more technology tools in my teaching.

Technology Training

In response to technology training questions, most of the respondents (82%, or 18 out of 22) reported receiving training through their department, program, or institution. Twelve participants (55%) also reported that they sought assistance from a colleague, and 12 participants (55%) conducted their own training by experimenting. Nine participants (41%) stated that they receive training by doing Internet or YouTube searches, which is a form of self-teaching. Even fewer reported receiving training at conferences (eight participants or 41%) and from family or friends (6 participants 27%). Only one participant (5%) reported in each of the following categories: Online learning modules (from MOOCs, software companies), an undefined *other*, and he/she did not receive or seek out any training (as reported by a 20 something year old novice teacher). None of the participants paid for additional training from other institutions. Table 14 illustrates the manners in which the participants reported receiving training.

TELLE 1 1	TT71 1	• ,	1 1	
	Whata da	11011 POCOINO \$00	hhology	tva1111077
\mathbf{I} and \mathbf{I}	manere uv	vou receive iec	unoioev	
		<i></i>		

Rank	Answer	Total Response	%	Age 20-29	%	Age 30-39	%	Age 40 +	%	Novice	%	Experienced 1	%	Experienced 2	%
1	My department / program / institution	18	82%	4	80%	8	89%	6	71%	3	75%	8	89%	7	78%
2	Colleague	12	55%	2	40%	5	56%	5	71%	1	25%	5	56%	6	67%
2	Self (experiment)	12	55%	3	60%	6	67%	3	43%	2	50%	6	67%	4	44
3	Internet or YouTube searches	9	41%	1	20%	4	44%	4	57%	1	25%	4	44%	4	44%
4	Conference	8	36%	1	20%	3	33%	4	57%	0	0%	3	33%	5	56%
5	Friend or family member	6	27%	1	20%	2	22%	3	43%	0	0%	2	22%	2	22%
6	Online modules (from MOOCs, software companies, etc.)	1	5%	0	0%	1	11%	0	0%	0	0%	1	11%	0	0%
6	Other	1	5%	0	0%	0	0%	1	14%	0	0%	0	0%	1	11%
6	I do not receive / seek out any training	1	5%	1	20%	0	0%	0	0%	1	25%	0	0%	0	0%
7	Other institution (I pay)	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%
Total Re	esponses	22		5		9		8		4		9		9	

In terms of perceptions related to technology training, the instructors responded fairly strongly that they would use more technology tools if they received more training ($\mu = 1.77$). In examining the various samples, the youngest instructors (20-29, $\bar{x} = 2.2$) and those with the least amount of experience (novice, $\bar{x} = 2.25$) were the least likely to integrate more technology with

additional training. Conversely, the oldest (40+, $\bar{x} = 1.38$) and the most experienced (experienced 2, $\bar{x} = 1.67$) were the most likely groups to incorporate more technology if they had additional training. Table 15 presents the responses to the statement, "I would integrate more technology if I had more training."

Population / Sample	Agree	Somewhat	Neutral	Somewhat	Disagree	Total	Mean*
	Completely	Agree	-	Disagree	Completely	Responses	
Total Population	8	12	1	1	0	22	1.77
Age 20-29	1	3	0	1	0	5	2.2
Age 30-39	2	6	1	0	0	9	1.89
Age 40+	5	3	0	0	0	8	1.38
Novice	1	2	0	1	0	4	2.25
Experienced #1	2	6	1	0	0	9	1.89
Experienced #2	4	1	1	0	0	9	1.67
Moan*							
A gree Completely	1						
Somewhat A gree	2						
Somewhat Agree	Z						
Neutral	3						
Somewhat Disagree	4						
Disagree Completely	5						

 Table 15: Perception: I would integrate more technology if I had more training.

Overall, the respondents somewhat agreed with the notion that they received enough support, training, funding from their department, program, or institution ($\mu = 2.41$). While this appeared be consistent among the various sample groups, the youngest (20-29, $\bar{x} = 2$) and those with more than 3 years – 10 years of experience (experienced 1, $\bar{x} = 2.22$) felt the most satisfaction with the technology services and funding provided by their employer. On the other hand, those over 40 ($\bar{x} = 2.88$) and with the most experience (experienced 2, $\bar{x} = 2.56$) reported a marginal difference of less satisfaction with institutional support. Table 16 depicts the responses to the statement, "I receive enough support (funding, IT assistance, training, etc.) from my institution / department to teach with technology."

Population / Sample	Agree	Somewhat	Neutral	Somewhat	Disagree	Total	Mean*	
ropulation / Sample	Completely	Agree	Incuttat	Disagree	Completely	Responses	Ivicali -	
Total Population	4	7	9	2	0	22	2.41	
Age 20-29	2	1	2	0	0	5	2	
Age 30-39	2	3	4	0	0	9	2.22	
Age 40+	0	3	3	2	0	8	2.88	
Novice	1	1	2	0	0	4	2.25	
Experienced #1	2	3	4	0	0	9	2.22	
Experienced #2	1	4	4	1	0	0	2.56	
Mean*								
Agree Completely	1							
Somewhat Agree	2							
Neutral	3							
Somewhat Disagree	4							
Disagree Completely	5							

 Table 16: Perception: I receive enough support to teach with technology.

Overall when it came to the perception of receiving new ideas from colleagues and/or friends, the respondents agreed fairly strongly ($\mu = 1.59$). This seemed especially true among the 20-29 year old instructors ($\bar{x} = 1.4$) and the novice teachers ($\bar{x} = 1.5$). At the slightly lower end of the spectrum were the 30-39 age group ($\bar{x} = 1.78$) and those with more than three to 10 years of experience (experienced 1, $\bar{x} = 1.78$). Table 17 gives the responses to the statement, "I receive new ideas for using technology tools from colleagues / friends."

Population / Sample	Agree	Somewhat	Noutral	Somewhat	Disagree	Total	Moon*	
ropulation / Sample	Completely	Agree	neutrai	Disagree	Completely	Responses	iviean*	
Total Population	11	9	2	0	0	22	1.59	
Age 20-29	3	2	0	0	0	5	1.4	
Age 30-39	3	5	1	0	0	9	1.78	
Age 40+	5	2	1	0	0	8	1.5	
Novice	2	2	0	0	0	4	1.5	
Experienced #1	3	5	1	0	0	9	1.78	
Experienced #2	4	1	1	0	0	9	1.67	
Mean*								
Agree Completely	1							
Somewhat Agree	2							
Neutral	3							
Somewhat Disagree	4							
Disagree Completely	5							

Table 17: Perception: I receive new ideas for using technology tools from colleagues / friends.

Finally, the instructors accounted for their own search for new ideas or methods to integrate technology into their practice. Again, the all of the participants were in somewhat agreement that they take it upon themselves to investigate technology for professional use ($\mu = 2.23$). Those most likely to initiate their own exploration were those who were the oldest (40+, $\bar{x} = 2$) and those with more than 11 years of experience (experienced 2, $\bar{x} = 2.11$). In contrast, the 20-29 age group ($\bar{x} = 2.6$) and the novice group ($\bar{x} = 2.25$) were marginally less likely to seek new ideas or methods on their own. Table 18 illustrates the responses to the statement, "I search out new ideas / ways to teach with technology on my own."

Dopulation / Sampla	Agree	Somewhat	Neutral	Somewhat	Disagree	Total	Mean*
1 opulation / Sample	Completely	Agree	Incuttat	Disagree	Completely	Responses	Wiean
Total Population	6	10	1	5	0	22	2.23
Age 20-29	1	2	0	2	0	5	2.6
Age 30-39	3	3	1	2	0	9	2.22
Age 40+	2	5	0	1	0	8	2
Novice	1	2	0	1	0	4	2.25
Experienced #1	3	3	1	2	0	9	2.22
Experienced #2	4	1	1	0	0	9	2.11
Mean*							
Agree Completely	1						
Somewhat Agree	2						
Neutral	3						
Somewhat Disagree	4						
Disagree Completely	5						

 Table 18: Perception: I search out new ideas / ways to teach with technology on my own.

CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION

Overall, 100% of the participants reported using technology in their post secondary language teaching and in their personal lives. This included a mix of instructors teaching their L1 or an L2, coming from a diverse age and experience ranges, and varying opinions about technology in post secondary language education. With participants reporting a broad spectrum of age and experience levels, it was difficult to position any one age group into one experience level and vice a versa. Hence, age groups and experience levels are not mutually exclusive. This seems to confirm that language educators come into the profession at various points throughout their lives. The data analysis revealed some slight differences (in types of devices, instructional delivery, tools used, and opinions) apparent across either sample populations of age or experience levels. Adhering to the age descriptions of digital natives (post 1984) and digital natives (pre 1984), the data were not that divergent. Consequently, the aggregate of the survey population provides a more relevant descriptive overview of types of technology and domains used by post secondary language instructors. Additionally, while there was some variation in perceptions across the disparate sample populations, they contrasted very little. This was quite evident from the means to various perception questions (referred to in Tables 11-13 and 15-18). Therefore, this discussion focuses largely on the total population rather than distinctions found across sample populations determined by age or experience level.

Personal Technology Use and Teacher-Centered Tools

The primary purpose of this study was to provide an investigation and description of the uses of technology tools by language educators in post secondary education. Participants of this study confirm that technology is being used in both personal and professional domains.

However, in terms of Stephen Bax's notion of normalization (where technology tools are integrated seamlessly) (Bax, 2003, pp. 23-24), the data revealed two important findings: 1. technology tools and devices are more extensively used in their personal lives; and 2. teacher-centered tools are utilized more commonly in their language teaching.

First, it appears that post secondary language instructors have fully integrated technology into their personal lives, but have not achieved the same level of assimilation in their teaching repertoire. As previously noted, all of the instructors own a personal computer and many own at least one other mobile device. Additionally, they actively use a variety of tools for administrative, collaborative, communication, information gathering, multimedia, social media, and other purposes in their personal domain. However, the transfer of their personal use does not completely extend into their professional life. As discussed in the literature review, there are multitudes of outside influences that impact the incorporation of technology tools into teaching practices, including teacher's comfort and skill level. Overall, the teachers, digital native or not, reported that they did not find technology to be very frustrating (Table 11). When coupled with high ownership of various devices across the entire population, this suggests they all enjoy some level of comfort and familiarity with technology.

Second, while a host of technology tools and features are employed in the participants' toolboxes both in the face-to-face and accompanying online environment, these tools are more teacher-centered tools. As described in the literature review, these tools can provide a system of organization, administrative needs, or transparency; and these tools do not promote higher-order thinking skills of students and are not student-centered. In terms of instructional delivery, instructors use very teacher-centered methods (Table 10). While using mobile devices, computers, or smartphones increase the student engagement, 82% of the teachers reported using

this method, but still it ranked fifth in how teachers deliver content. 100% of the participants reported use of a chalkboard or dry erase board, thus suggesting perhaps language instructors still teach by being a *sage on the stage*, at least for part of their teaching. By its nature, CMS / LMS are designed to be mostly teacher-centered. Effective engagement of a CMS / LMS can be integrated well into a language class and provide students with the necessary course components and exposure to authentic materials. However, there was little evidence in this study that teachers were using the discussion features, which would elevate the students' involvement and evoke higher-order learning skills.

Professional Development

In addition to determining that teachers' use of technology was more prevalent in their personal lives, this thesis also identified patterns and trends that influenced instructors' use of technology in teaching. While instructors are susceptible to various influences, teachers in general are considered to be lifelong learners. Even the most experienced instructor can keep learning to stay current in the field, which now includes digital applications. Therefore, the data identify the need for ongoing professional development in terms of technology. Furthermore, instructors in this study seemed to possess self-motivation, a critical component of the learning process, to continue learning about technology, whether it was through organized professional development opportunities or through their own quest. Participants agreed fairly strongly that they like to learn new things by using technology (Table 12). The participants felt even more strongly that they would like to use more technology tools in future teaching (Table 13). Likewise, they felt about the same that they would integrate more technology if they had more training (Table 15). These three factors support that the language teachers in this study were

interested in learning more about technology tools, and eventually wanted to assimilate them into their teaching.

In an era where governments, universities, and departments invest enormous sums of money on technology infrastructure, devices and tools, they strongly encourage the use of technology in teaching, such as clickers, blogs, multimedia presentations, video lectures, and online learning. Overall, instructors reported a level of "somewhat agreement" with the statement that they received enough support through their institution or department (Table 16). This included technology training, the source of 82% of the respondents' training, and for many their only source of technology training. The participants were also unanimous in that they do not pay for outside technology training. This suggests that technology-training opportunities should continue to take place through language departments and programs, and perhaps take place during an instructor's normal working hours. Whether technology-training is mandatory or not, holding the training sessions during the normal working hours will help ensure more teachers receive additional skill or tool idea coaching.

Instead of teachers just learning in a classroom environment, they are afforded numerous opportunities to continue to learn and grow. In addition to supporting the need for institutional training of language teachers in technology, findings in this thesis support that teachers learn by mentoring each other and collaborating with colleagues. In examining data, the instructors reported that they received or liked to receive training and ideas through exchanges with others or self-exploration (Tables 14, 17, and 18). This suggests that departments and institutions could foster and support cohorts (Wenzlaff & Wieseman, 2004) or discourse communities (Putnam & Borko, 2000) for collaborative technology learning. By definition, instructors within a department or institution already form a cohort. However, administration and training programs

could promote the collaborative sharing of technology skills and tools among instructors. The notion of a cohort facilitates the individual's beliefs, which are important for learning and positive change to occur (Wenzlaff & Wieseman, 2004). Additionally, individuals feel empowerment and ownership of their skills and knowledge acquired through self-exploration. When augmented by collaborative sharing, this can also promote increased camaraderie among faculty. Moreover, instructors from various experience and age levels can learn from each other, in small group settings or colleague-to-colleague. In terms of time, exchange of skills and ideas can be accomplished in a few minutes, as compared to lengthy in-service sessions. Additionally, the skill or idea exchange is accompanied by experience from a learning curve and practical application, which can decrease a teacher's experimental time with new tools or skills.

The notion of a cohort could also be beneficial in bridging the divide between the personal and professional use of technology. In addition to sharing tips and tricks that one teacher is currently using or technology lesson ideas, colleagues can also share how they transfer skills or tools from their personal use to professional use. Not only are tools and skills necessary for the transfer between the two domains, pedagogically sound application is imperative. One way to accomplish this task is to share experiences with various "apps" available through smartphones, iPads, or other mobile devices. In recent years, several teachers and researchers have been advancing Benjamin Bloom's Taxonomy to twenty-first century relevancy. Among others, Andrew Churches, Kathy Schrock, Allan Carrington, have built on Bloom's work to scaffold higher forms of thinking into learning by creating connections to technology tools that facilitate learning (Allan Carrington's Blog, 2012, July 7, & Churches, 01/04/2009). The tools themselves are not important; it is the application of the activity. Perhaps the most visual presentation of this is Allan Carrington's *Pedagogy Wheel*, which maps various "apps" that are
available on an iPad or smartphone to Bloom's Taxonomy (Allan Carrington's Blog, 2012, July 7). The use of these devices and apps make learning more student-centered. Moreover, instructors are able to transfer their know-how and skills from their personal life to their teaching toolbox. Figure 2 is an illustration of Allan Carrington's most recent version of his *Pedagogy Wheel*.



Figure 2: Allan Carrington's Pedagogy Wheel (Allan Carrington's Blog, 2012, July 7)

While instructors are conditioned to be lifelong learners, this is especially true when it comes to the ever-advancing world of technology. As noted in the literature review, regardless of how technology skills and ideas are acquired, instructors need time to experiment with the tools or skills. This is essential for building an instructor's self-efficacy, which will impact the likelihood that the newly acquired skill or tool will be integrated into practice.

CHAPTER VI: IMPLICATIONS AND CONCLUSION

Perhaps more so than other disciplines within in the social sciences, language education has had and continues to have a rich connection with technology integration. There is an undeniable connection between the evolution of pedagogical methods for language teaching and technology tools available. As the world becomes more intertwined by technology and learners grow up immersed in a tech savvy digital environment, the future of language education must embrace the use of technology. At this point, post secondary language professionals have made great strides to integrate digital technology tools into their practices; however, it has not yet become normalized to the same extent as other teaching tools, such as textbooks, paper, and pencils. While instructors in this study appear to incorporate and depend on technology devices and functions in their personal lives, the application of similar tools and features is not as prevalent in their teaching. Additionally, in regards to their professional use of technology tools, the instructors utilize more teacher-centered aspects of technology (e.g. largely for administrative purposes, instructional delivery, or enrichment). Thus, learners are receiving information, but are not actively and authentically participating in their learning.

In order for instructors to continue integrate technology into their toolbox while adopting more student-centered learning opportunities; educators need continual training and exchange of ideas. Based on participants' desire to integrate more technology into their teaching, this study recommends that professional development include the promotion of cohorts, where teachers at various ages and experience levels are encouraged to exchange ideas for using technology, and also technical know-how. This is not to suggest that institutions, departments, and programs should exclude or abandon training of technology tools and computer skills from their current

TECHNOLOGY IN LANGUAGE EDUCATION

offerings. However, topics could be expanded to reflect the transfer of technology applications and features from their personal use to pedagogically sound purposes in their teaching. Many post secondary language-teaching positions require instructors to stay current in their field, which includes staying current with trends in pedagogy and the digital age. As technology keeps advancing, post secondary language instructors need to learn how to transfer their technology skills and know-how from their personal life to their professional life, adopt more studentcentered digital teaching practices, and play an active role in their professional development in regards to technology.

The results of this study have implications for practice. By understanding instructors' perceptions and skills, professional development coordinators can more closely align training sessions to the needs of their instructors. Additionally, by promoting cohorts, instructors at various ages and experience levels are able to exchange ideas and technical know-how. This also provides for increased camaraderie and communication within the institution. This type of sharing also facilitates the idea that technology is a lifelong learning process. Developing the necessary skills today need to continually be improved upon or expanded. Likewise, the availability and variety of technology tools proceeds to expand exponentially, and some of these resources are more pedagogically sound than others. By participating in an exchange, it can reduce an individual's time of experimentation and provide a more meaningful integration of technology tools into practice.

While this study has some limitations, it serves as a platform from which additional studies can be based. A larger population pool would yield more data for analysis or capture a broader cross section of post secondary language instructors. A future study of this nature could be expanded for a larger population pool or tweaked to be applicable to a single department or

institution. Another limitation to this study was that the responses were general and self-reported. Instructors were not asked about frequency of use or proficiency level various tools were utilized. While these specific questions do not impact the general description tools used in language teaching, a difference might become more apparent with lower proficiency levels receiving more teacher-centered tools, and higher levels receiving more student-centered tools. A qualitative or empirical study could also be based on this study, and provide more evidence of the tools being employed. Results could be further analyzed to provide qualitative support for language teacher training for pre- and in- service instructors and their professional development. In addition to training, the results could provide institutions and departments with data to support budgeting for technology tools (e.g. infrastructure, hardware, software, subscriptions, and licenses) and resources (e.g. personnel, technical support, and training).

REFERENCES

- Allan Carrington Blog. (2012, July 7). The pedagogy wheel ... it's a Bloomin' better way to teach. Retrieved from http://www.unity.net.au/allansportfolio/edublog/?p=324
- American Council on the Teaching of Foreign Languages. *Role of technology in language learning*. Retrieved from https://www.actfl.org/news/position-statements/role-technology-language-learning.
- Bax, S. (2003). CALL past, present and future. Systems 31 (1), 13-28.
- Bax, S. (2011). Normalisation revisited: The effective use of technology in language education. *International Journal of Computer-Assisted Language Learning and Teaching*, 1(2), 1-15.
- Berlitz International, Inc. (2008). *Berlitz: 130 years of innovation*. Paris, France: Maya Press. Available online http://marketing.berlitz.us/magazine/index.htm.
- Blake, R. J. (2013). *Brave new digital classroom: Technology and foreign language learning* (2nd ed.). Washington, D.C.: Georgetown University Press.
- Brown, H. D. (2007). *Teaching by principles: An interactive approach to language pedagogy* (3rd ed.). White Hall, NY: Pearson Education Inc.
- Carter, K. (1990). Teachers' knowledge and learning to teach. *Handbook of research on teacher education* (1st ed.) (291-310). New York, NY: MacMillan.
- Cetto, M. (2010). Technology and second language teaching. *Brújula: revisita interdiciplinaria sobre estudios latinamericanos 8* (1), 119-121. Retrieved from www.brujula.ucdavis/edu/files/2012/01/119-21_Vol8_EnRoute_Cetto.pdf.
- Chambers, A., & Bax, S. (2006). Making CALL work: Towards normalisation. *Systems 34*, 465-479.
- Chapelle, C. A. (2007). Technology and second language acquisition. In Markee, N. (Ed.), *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, (pp. 1-17). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Chen, C-L. A. (2011). Extended implications of technology in second language teaching and learning. *The Forum 11* (2), 27-29.
- Chinnery, G. M. (2006). Going to the MALL: Mobile assisted language learning. Language Learning & Technology 10 (1), 9-16. Retrieved from: http://llt.msu.edu/vol10num1/emerging/.
- Chou, P-N., and Chen, H-H. (2008). Engagement in online collaborative learning: a case study using a web 2.0 tool. *MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching 4*(4), 574-582.

- Churches, A. (01/04/2009). *Blooms' digital taxonomy*. Retrieved from http://edorigami.wikispaces.com/file/view/bloom%27s%20Digital%20taxonomy%20v3.01.p df/65720266/bloom%27s%20Digital%20taxonomy%20v3.01.pdf
- Dawley, L. (2007). *The tools for successful online teaching*. Hershey, PA: Information Science Publishing.
- Ertmer, P. A., & Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A. T., (2010). Teacher technology change: How knowledge, confidence, beliefs, and culture intersect. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 42 (3), 255-284.
- Ertmer, P. A., Otterbreit-Leftwich, A. T., Sadik, O., Sendurur, E., Sendurur, P. (2012). Teacher beliefs and technology integration practices: A critical relationship. *Computers & Education* 59, 423-435.
- Gass, S. M. (2013). *Second language acquisition: An introductory course* (4th ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Godwin-Jones, R. (2005). Emerging technologies messaging, gaming, peer-to-peer sharing: Language learning strategies & tools for the millennial generation. *Language Learning & Technology*, 9 (1), 17-22. Retrieved from: http://llt.msu.edu/vol9num1.emerging/.
- Green, K. C. (2013). *Campus Computing, 2013: The 24th national survey of computing and information technology in US Higher Education*. Retrieved from: http://www.campuscomputing.net/sites/www.campuscomputing.net/files/CampusComputing 2013_1.pdf.
- Hammerness, K., Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (2005). How teachers learn and develop. In L. Darling-Hammond and J. Bransford (Eds.), *Preparing teachers for a changing world: What teachers should learn and be able to do* (pp. 358-389). San Franscisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Hanson-Smith, E. & Rilling, S. (2006). Introduction: Using technology in language teaching. In E. Hanson-Smith and S. Rilling (Eds.), *Learning languages through technology* (pp. 1-7). Alexandria, VA: Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages, Inc.
- Herrington, A. and Herrington, J. (2007) Authentic mobile learning in higher education. In: AARE 2007 International Educational Research Conference, 28 November 2007, Fremantle, Western Australia.
- Hubbard, P. (Ed.). (2009). *Computer assisted language learning: Volume 1 foundations of CALL*. Critical Concepts in Linguistics Series. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hubbard, P. (2008). CALL and the future of language teacher education. *CALICO Journal*, 25(2), 175-188.

- Ismail, S. A. A., Almekhlafi, A. G., & Al-Mekhlafy, M. H. (2010). Teachers' perceptions of the use of technology in teaching languages in United Arab Emirates' schools. *International Journal for Research in Education*, 27, 37-56.
- Jee, M. J. (2011). Web 2.0 technology meets mobile assisted language learning. *The IALLT Journal 41*(1), 161-175.
- Jung, H-J. (2002). Virtual reality for ESL students. *The Internet TESL Journal, 8*, 10. Retrieved from http://iteslj.org/Articles/Jung-VR.html.
- Kanno, Y. & Stuart, C. (2011).n Learning to become a second language teacher: Identities-inpractice. *The Modern Language Journal 95*, (ii).
- Karatas, P. & Karaman, A. C. (2013). Challenges faced by novice language teachers: Support, identity, and pedagogy in the initial years of teaching. *Educational Research Association The International Journal of Research in Teacher Education*, 4 (3), pp. 10-23. Retrieved from http://ijrte.eab.org.tr/media/volume4/issue2/p karatas.pdf.
- Kervin, L. & Derewianka, B. (2011). New technologies to support language learning. In B. Tomlinson (Eds.), *Materials Development in Language Teaching* (pp. 328-351). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Kim, D, Ruekert, D., Kim, D-J., & Seo, D. (2013). Students' perceptions and experiences of mobile learning. *Language Learning & Technology* 17(3), 52-73. Retrieved from http://llt.msu.edu/issues/october2013/kimetal.pdf.
- Kukulska-Hulme, A. (2006). Mobile language learning now and in the future. In Svensson, P. (Ed.), Från vision till praktik: Språkutbildning och Informationsteknik (From vision to practice: language learning and IT), (pp. 295-319). Sweden: Swedish Net University (Nätuniversitetet).
- Kumar, N., Rose, R. C., & D'Silva, J. L. (2008). Teachers' readiness to use technology in the classroom: An empirical study. *European Journal of Scientific Research 21* (4), 603-613.
- Lado, R. (1988). *Teaching English across cultural cultures: An introduction for teachers of English to speakers of other languages*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Larsen-Freeman, D. & Anderson, M. (2011). *Techniques & principles in language teaching* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Leakey, J. (2011). Evaluating computer-assisted language learning: An integrated approach to effectiveness research in CALL. New York, NY: Peter Lang.
- Leloup, J. W., Ponterio, R., & Cortland, S. (2003). Second language acquisition and technology: A review of the research. *Eric Digest Online, FL-03* (11). Retrieved from www.cal.org/resources/digest/digest_pdfs/0311leloup.pdf.

Levy, M. (1997). CALL: context and conceptualisation, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Levy, M. (2009). Technologies in use for second language learning. *The Modern Language Journal*, 93, 769-782.
- Luke, C. L. & Britten, J. S. (2007). The expanding role of technology in foreign language teacher education programs. *CALICO Journal*, 24 (2), 253-267.
- Mackey, A., & Gass, S. M. (2005). *Second language research: Methodology and design.* Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Maftoon, P., & Shahini, A. (2012). CALL normalization: A survey on inhibitive factors. *JALT CALL Journal* 8(1), 17-32.
- Meskill, C., Mossop, J., DiAngelo, S., & Pasquale, R. (2002). Expert and novice teachers talking technology: Precepts, concepts, and misconcepts. *Language Learning and Technology*, 6(3), 46-57.
- Meskill, C., & Quah, J. (2012). Researching language learning in the age of social media. In M. Thomas, H. Reinders, and M. Warshauer (Eds.). *Contemporary CALL*. New York: Bloomsbury Academic Press. Retrieved from: http://www.albany.edu/etap/files/callbookchapter.pdf.
- Motteram, G. (2013). The benefits of new technology in language learning. *British Council Voices*. Retrieved from http://blog.britishcouncil.org/2013/09/18/the-benefits-of-new-technology-in-language-learning.
- Oxford, R., & Oxford, J. (2009). Introduction. In R. Oxford & J. Oxford (Eds.), *Second language teaching and learning in the Net Generation* (pp.1-8). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawai'i, National Foreign Language Center.
- Park, Y. (2011). A pedagogical framework for mobile learning: Categorizing educational applications of mobile technologies into four types. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning, 12*(2). Retrieved from http://www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl/rt/printerFriendly/791/1699.
- Prensky, M. (2001a). Digital natives, digital immigrants. *On the Horizon, 9* (5). Retrieved from http:marcprensky.com/writing.
- Prensky, M. (2001b). Digital natives, digital immigrants, part II: Do they really think differently? *On the Horizon, 9* (6). Retrieved from http:marcprensky.com/writing.
- Putnam, R. T., & Borko, H. (2000). What do new views of knowledge and thinking have to say about research on teacher learning? *Educational Researcher*, 20 (1), 4-15.

- Rance-Roney, J. (2008). Digital storytelling for language and cultural learning. *Essential Teacher 5* (1), 29-31.
- Richards, J. C. (2011). *Competence and Performance in Language Teaching*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Robb, T. N. (2006). CALL and the nonautonomous learner: Build it, but will they come? In E. Hanson-Smith and S. Rilling (Eds.), *Learning languages through technology* (pp. 69-76). Alexandria, VA: Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages, Inc.
- Sadeghpour, M. (2013). Information technology and second language teaching. *International Journal of Language Learning and Applied Linguistics World*, 4 (3), 50-57.
- Skinner, B. F. (1958). Time machines. SCIENCE 128 (3330), 969-977.
- Snow, M. A. (2005). Key themes in TESOL MA teacher training. In D. Tedick (Ed.), Second language teacher education: International perspectives (pp. 261-272). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Sokolik, M. (2006). Mismatch or missed opportunity?: Addressing student expectations about technology. In E. Hanson-Smith and S. Rilling (Eds.), *Learning languages through technology* (pp. 137-149). Alexandria, VA: Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages, Inc.
- Stanley, G. (2013). *Language learning with technology: Ideas for integrating technology in the classroom*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Susser, B. (2006). CALL and content-area teaching. In E. Hanson-Smith and S. Rilling (Eds.), *Learning languages through technology* (pp. 97-108). Alexandria, VA: Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages, Inc.
- Tayebinik, M. & Puteh, Marlia. (2012). Mobile learning to support teaching English as a second language. *Journal of Education and Practice 3*(7), 56-62.
- Trites, L. (2006). The teacher's critical role in effective online courses. In E. Hanson-Smith and S. Rilling (Eds.), *Learning languages through technology* (pp. 201-214). Alexandria, VA: Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages, Inc.
- Turnbull, M. & Lawrence, G. (2002). FSL teachers and technology: Findings from a national survey. Canadian Association of Second Language Teachers. Retrieved from: http://www.caslt.org/Pring/computers2p.htm.
- UNESCO Institute for Information Technologies in Education. (2004). *Information and communication technologies in the teaching and learning of foreign languages: State-of-theart, needs and perspectives.* Moscow, Russia. Retrieved from: http://iite.unesco.org/pics/publications/en/files/3214627.pdf.

- Velazquez-Torres, N. (2006). How well are ESL teachers being prepared to integrate technology in their classrooms? *TESL-EJ* 9(4), 1-28.
- Warshauer, M. (1996). Computer assisted language learning: an introduction. In Fotos, S. (ed.) *Multimedia language teaching*, (pp. 3-20). Tokyo, Japan: Logos International.
- Warschauer, M. (2002). A developmental perspective on technology in language education. *TESOL Quarterly*, *36* (3), 453-475.
- Warschauer, M., & Healey, D. (1998). Computers and language learning: an overview. *Language Teaching 31*, 57-71.
- Warschauer, M., & Meskill, C. (2000). Technology and second language learning. In J.
 Rosenthal (Ed.), *Handbook of undergraduate second language education* (pp. 303-318).
 Mahwah, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Wenzlaff, T. L. & Wieseman, K. C. (2004). Teachers need teachers to grow. *Teacher Education Quarterly, Spring*, 113-124.
- Winston, H. (2013). Helping professors use technology is top concern in computing survey. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Messages posted to: http://chronicle.com/article/Helping-Faculty-Members-Use/142377/.
- Yang, S.C., & Chen, Y-J. (2007). Technology-enhanced language learning: A case study. *Computers in Human Behavior, 23*, 860-879.

APPENDIX A: Email to Potential Participants in the Research Study

Greetings Post Secondary Language Educators,

My name is Kirsten Stauffer, and I am a second year MA student in the University of Colorado Boulder's Linguistics program. I invite you to take part in a research study examining the *Technology in Post Secondary Language Education* because you are a language educator with language teaching responsibilities at the University of Colorado Boulder or other post secondary/higher-education institution or program. Specifically, the brief questionnaire asks about your personal technology use, use of technology in teaching, and a few opinions about statements regarding the use of technology in language teaching.

The survey should take **10** *minutes* (or less) to complete. Participation is completely voluntary. You may choose to decline entirely, skip any question(s) that you do not want to answer, or stop taking this survey at any time. I value your input. There will be no repercussions for refusal to participate or withdrawing from the study.

You will *not* be asked to provide any identifying information and your IP address will not be recorded. Therefore, your answers cannot be linked to you specifically. By completing this questionnaire, there is very minimal risk to you, and you will not receive any direct benefit for completing it.

By clicking on the link to the survey below, you are consenting to participate in the study.

To take the survey, please click this link: https://cuboulder.qualtrics.com/SE/?SID=SV_5bzLdmUpywWw3at

The survey will be active through May 13, 2014.

If you have questions, concerns, or complaints, or think the research has hurt you, talk to the Primary Investigator: Kirsten Stauffer University of Colorado Boulder kirsten.stauffer(at)colorado.edu

This research has been reviewed and approved by an Institutional Review Board ("IRB"). If you have any questions or concerns regarding the study and would like to talk with someone other than the researcher, you are encouraged to contact the University of Colorado Human Research and Institutional Review Board, ARC Room A15, 3100 Marine Street, Boulder, CO 80309-0563. (303)735-3702 or irbadmin@colorado.edu.

Thank you for your consideration and time!

APPENDIX B: Questionnaire

Default Question Block

An Investigation of Technology in Post Secondary Language Education Informed Consent

Purpose of the study:

This survey accompanies a thesis examining current self-reported activities and perceptions of post secondary technology use in language teaching.

Participants:

The survey is open to faculty and graduate students with language teaching responsibilities at the University of Colorado Boulder or language educators affiliated with other post secondary/higher-education institutions or programs. (Language refers to a second/foreign language or bilingual program: i.e. English as a Second Language - ESL, French as a Foreign Language, Bilingual English-Spanish, etc. Computer languages and sign languages are excluded.)

What to expect:

The questionnaire consists of closed-ended questions in four sections: Biographical & Institutional Information, Personal Technology Use, Technology Use in Teaching, and Opinions about Technology Use. No identifying information will be collected. The survey should take approximately 10 minutes to complete.

Risks or discomforts:

No risks or discomforts are anticipated from taking part in this study. If you feel uncomfortable with a question, you can skip the question or withdraw from the study altogether. If you decide to quit at any time before you have finished the questionnaire, your answers will NOT be recorded.

Confidentiality:

Your responses will be kept completely confidential and anonymous. The questionnaire does NOT request identifiable information (e.g. name, email address, etc.), and your IP address will NOT be recorded. Only the researcher will see the anonymous individual survey responses.

Contact information:

If you have concerns or questions about this study, please contact the Principal Investigator - Kirsten Stauffer at kirsten.stauffer(at)colorado.edu.

Thank you for contributing to the knowledge about the current state of technology in post secondary language education at the University of Colorado Boulder.

By beginning the survey, you acknowledge that you have read this information and agree to participate in the research with the knowledge that you are free to withdraw your participation at any time.

Part 1: Biographical & Institutional Information

What is your first/native language (L1)?

- Arabic
- Chinese
- English
- French
- German

	Italian
	Japanese
	Korean
	Russian
	Spanish
	Other
Wh	at language(s) do you teach? (Click all that apply)
	Arabic
	Chinese
	English
	French
	German
	Italian
	Japanese
	Korean
	Russian
	Spanish
	Other
Wh	at is your age?
\bigcirc	20 - 29 years old
\bigcirc	30 - 39 years old
\bigcirc	40 - 49 years old
\bigcirc	50 - 59 years old
\bigcirc	60 years old or older
Γot	al number of years teaching language:
Cur	rent state (where instruction takes place):

Type of post secondary institution you are currently teaching at: (If teaching at more than one institution, please select your primary location of teaching.)

C Adult Basic Education / Adult Community / Literacy Organization

\bigcirc	raan basis Lausaasiin , kaan conmining , Licitasy organization
\bigcirc	College / University
\bigcirc	Community College
\bigcirc	Private Language School
\bigcirc	Other
Гур	e of program at Adult Basic Education / Adult Community / Literacy Organization:
	Bilingual Program
	Foreign Language Program (i.e. Modern Languages)
	Intensive English Program (IEP)
	Second Language Program (e.g. English as a Second Language, Spanish as a Second Language, German as a Secon Language)
	Teacher Training / Development Program
	Other
	Bilingual Program Foreign Language Program (i.e. Modern Languages)
	Bilingual Program
	Foreign Language Program (i.e. Modern Languages)
	Intensive English Program (IEP)
	Second Language Program (e.g. English as a Second Language, Spanish as a Second Language, German as a Secon Language)
	Teacher Training / Development Program
	Other
Гур	e of program at Community College:
	Bilingual Program
	Foreign Language Program (i.e. Modern Languages)
	Intensive English Program (IEP)
	Second Language Program (e.g. English as a Second Language, Spanish as a Second Language, German as a Secon Language)
	Teacher Training / Development Program
	Other
	a di ma mana at Britada Lananaana Saha ala
Гур	e of program at Private Language School:
Гура	Bilingual Program

📄 lr	ntensive English Program (IEP)
l S	Second Language Program (e.g. English as a Second Language, Spanish as a Second Language, German as a Second anguage)
П	eacher Training / Development Program
0 C	Dther
Туре	of program at Other:
B	Silingual Program
F	oreign Language Program (i.e. Modern Languages)
🗌 Ir	ntensive English Program (IEP)
l S	Second Language Program (e.g. English as a Second Language, Spanish as a Second Language, German as a Second . anguage)
П	eacher Training / Development Program
□ C [Dther
) 5 () 9	-8 weeks -16 weeks
	7-24 weeks
0 2	5 weeks or more
0	
Whei (Plea	re do you receive technology training? ise click all that apply.)
0	Colleague
🗌 C	Conference
F	riend or family member
🗌 Ir	nternet or YouTube searches
N	ly department / program / institution
	Online modules (from MOOCs, software companies, etc.)
	Other institution (I pay)
🗌 s	Self (experiment)
	Other
	do not receive / seek out any training.

Android, Blackberry, iPhone, Si nal purposes? ndows, Mac, etc.)?	amsung, etc.)?
nal purposes? ndows, Mac, etc.)? ofessional purposes?	
onal purposes? ndows, Mac, etc.)? ofessional purposes?	
onal purposes? ndows, Mac, etc.)? ofessional purposes?	
nal purposes? ndows, Mac, etc.)? ofessional purposes?	
ndows, Mac, etc.)? ofessional purposes?	
ndows, Mac, etc.)? ofessional purposes?	
ndows, Mac, etc.)? ofessional purposes?	
ofessional purposes?	
ofessional purposes?	
ofessional purposes?	
ofessional purposes?	
bile device (e.g. Android, Goog	ıle, iPad, Kindle, Microsoft, Nook,
nobile device for professional p	ourposes?
er, do you use the following fu	nctions for personal use?
Yes	No
\bigcirc	\odot
\bigcirc	\bigcirc
\bigcirc	0
0	
b	ter, do you use the following fu Yes

appointments tasks of		
Clock (including clorm clock		
stopwatch, timer, etc.)	\circ	\bigcirc
Documents or presentations (e.g. word processing, spreadsheets, presentations)	0	\bigcirc
Email	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Games	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Instant messages, chatrooms, texting	0	\bigcirc
Internet browsing or searches	\odot	\bigcirc
Music (e.g. GarageBand, mp3 player, podcasts, web radio, etc.)	0	\bigcirc
News or weather source	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Photo or video (including camera, editing, sharing, storage)	0	\bigcirc
Reading	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Social media (e.g. Facebook, Foursquare, Instagram, LinkedIn, Pinterest, Twitter, etc.)	0	\bigcirc
Specific programs or applications (including business, GPS or navigation, graphic design, food & drink, finance, health & fitness, hobby, home & garden, kids,	0	0
lifestyle, medical, reference, shopping, sports, travel, etc.)		
Telephone	\odot	\bigcirc
Video chats (e.g. Facetime, Google Hangout, ooVoo, Skype, etc.)	0	\bigcirc
Video watching or sharing (e.g. Hulu, Netflix, TED, YouTube, etc.)	0	\bigcirc
Other	0	\bigcirc

Part 3: Technology Use in Teaching

During one session, how do you deliver instructional content in any of your courses?					
	Yes	No			
Audio	0	\bigcirc			
Chalkboard or dry erase board	0	\bigcirc			
Clickers or other digital survey tool	\circ	\bigcirc			
Digital presentations (e.g. Keynote, PowerPoint, Prezi,	0	\bigcirc			

ooard, Desire2Learn, Moodle) for your class(er
) ooard, Desire2Learn, Moodle) for your class(e
)))))))))))))))))))
)oard, Desire2Learn, Moodle) for your class(e
्र board, Desire2Learn, Moodle) for your class(e
board, Desire2Learn, Moodle) for your class(e
ooard, Desire2Learn, Moodle) for your class(e
atures do you use?
eive certain scores to receive additional assignments

Yes

\bigcirc	Νο
Wh (Ple	at kind of course / class specific information do you have on your professional website? ease click all that apply.)
	Additional resources / links
	Class blog
	Games (or links to games)
	Homework / project assignments
	Listing of current classes
	Optional assignments / readings / materials
	Required readings
	Other
_	
	None of these
Dui anv	ring the duration of one semester / session / course, do you make use of the technology tools listed below in one given lesson?
(Ple	ease click all that apply.)
	Audio files
	Audio labs
	Blogs (audio or text)
	Bulletin or discussion boards
	Computer labs
	Digital games (designed for language pedagogy)
	Digital games (other)
	Digital storytelling (e.g. Camtasia Studio, iMovie, PowerPoint with voice over, VoiceThread, etc.)
	Email (e.g. administrative, assignments, communication, etc.)
	Language specific programs
	Online dictionaries / concordancers
	Podcasts / videocasts
	Repetitive audio drills
	Shared documents (students collaborate to create documents / presentations)
	Social media (e.g. Facebook, Twitter, etc.)
	Student audio / video recordings
	Videos / other digital images
	Virtual worlds (e.g. Second Life, Twinity, etc.)
	Voice over IP applications (e.g. Skype, ooVoo, etc.)
	WebQuests (students find information on the Internet)
	Wikis
\cap	Ward avalancing

vvora processing

Other

I do not use any of these.

Part 4: Opinions About Technology Use

How strongly do you agree with the following statements?

	Agree Completely	Somewhat Agree	Neutral	Somewhat Disagree	Disagree Completely
I find technology to be frustrating.	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
I like learning new things by using technology tools.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
I receive enough support (funding, IT assistance, training, etc.) from my institution / department to teach with technology.	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0
I receive new ideas for using technology tools from colleagues / friends.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
I search out new ideas / ways to teach with technology on my own.	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
I would integrate more technology if I had more training.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
In the future, I would like to use more technology tools in my teaching.	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
My institution / department mandates the use of technology in language teaching.	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
My students are more likely to do homework / assignments when technology is used.	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
My students know more about technology than I do.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Planning a lesson using technology purposefully takes longer than a lesson without technology.	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0
Someday, language teachers will be replaced by computer learning.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0

Block 1

Please click the submit button to record your answers. Results will be available upon request - kirsten.stauffer(at)colorado.edu. Thank you for participating in this survey!

APPENDIX C: Additional Data

Participant Pool: 22 participants

Age

Age 20-29	
Dauticipant	Years of
Fariicipani	Experience
2	2
3	5
6	3.5
12	5
15	3
Count	5
Mean	3.7
Median	3.5
Std Dev	1.30384048

		A
Age 30-39		Α
Participant	Years of Experience	ŀ
1	13	
8	5	
10	17	
11	16	
16	8	
18	4.5	
19	8	
20	5	
20	16	
Count	9	
Mean	10.2777778	
Median	8	
Std Dev	5.21482928	

Age 40+					
Age 40-49		Age 50-59		Age 60 +	
Participant	Years of Experience	Participant	Years of Experience	Participant	Years of Experience
4	7	5	30	9	18
17	20	7	0		
		13	16	Count	1
Count	2	14	22		
Mean	13.5	21	7		
Median	13.5				
Std Dev	9.19238816	Count	5		
		Mean	15		
		Median	16		
		Std Dev	11.8743421		

Experience

Years of Experience by Category

Novice			Experienced	11		Experienced 2					
Participant	Years of Experience	Age	Participant	Years of Experience	Age	Participant	Years of Experience	Age			
2	2	20-29	3	5	20-29	1	13	30-39			
6	3.5	20-29	4	7	40-49	5	30	50-59			
7	0	50-59	8	5	30-39	9	18	60 +			
15	3	20-29	12	5	20-29	10	17	30-39			
			16	8	30-39	11	16	30-39			
Count	4		18	4.5	30-39	13	16	50-59			
Mean	2.125		19	8	30-39	14	22	50-59			
Median	2.5		20	5	30-39	17	20	40-49			
Std Dev	1.54784797		20	7	50-59	22	16	40-49			
			Count	9		Count	9				
			Mean	6.05555556		Mean	18.6666667				
			Median	5		Median	17				
			Std Dev	1.42400062		Std Dev	4.97493719				

Personal Devices														
Answer	Total Response	%	Age 20-29 %		Age 30-39	%	Age 40 +	%	Novice	%	Experienced 1	%	Experienced 2	%
Smartphone (e.g. Android, Blackberry, iPhone, Samsung, etc.)	18	86%	5	100%	7	88%	6	75%	4	100%	7	88%	6	75%
No Smartphone	3	14%	0	0%	1	13%	2	25%	0	0%	1	13%	2	25%
Total Responses	21		5		8		8		4		8		8	
Personal Computer (e.g. Windows, Mac, etc.)	22	100%	5	100%	9	100%	8	100%	0% 4 10		9	100%	9	100%
No Personal Computer	0	0%	0	0%	0	14%	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%
Total Responses	22		5		9		8		4		9		9	
Tablet or Other Mobile Device (e.g. Android, Google, iPad, Kindle, Microsoft, Nook, Samsung, etc.) No Tablet or Other Mobile Device	14	64%	4	80%	7	78%	3	38%	3	75%	7	78%	5	56%
Total Responses	22		5		9	<u> </u>	8		4		9		9	L

Devices

Personal Devices Us	sed for Pro	fessior	nal Purpose	s											
Answer	Total Response	%	Age 20-29	%	Age 30-39	%	Age 40 +	%	Novice	%	Experienced 1	%	Experienced 2	%	
Smartphone (e.g.															
Android, Blackberry,	11	61%	3	60%	4	57%	4	67%	3	75%	4	57%	4	67%	
iPhone, Samsung, etc.)															
No Smartphone	7	39%	2	40%	3	43%	2	33%	1	25%	3	43%	2	33%	
Total Responses	esponses 18 5			7		6		4	1	7		6			
Personal Computer															
(e.g. Windows, Mac,	22	100%	5	100%	9	100%	8	100%	4	100%	9	100%	9	100%	
etc.)															
No Personal Computer	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	
Total Responses	22		5		9		8	_	4	1	9		9		
Tablet or Other Mobile															
Device (e.g. Android.															
Google, iPad, Kindle,	8	57%	1	25%	5	71%	2	67%	2	67%	5	71%	4	80%	
Microsoft, Nook,			_		-						-				
Samsung, etc.)															
No Tablet or Other	(4207	2	750/		200/	1 220		,	220/		200/	1	200/	
Mobile Device	6	43%	3	/5%	2	29%	1	35%	1	33%	2	29%	1	20%	
Total Responses	tal Responses 14 4			7		3		3		7		5			

Instructional Delivery & CMS / LMS

Instructional Content Delivery																								
		G	ener	al			20-29			30-3	9		40+			Novice			Experienced 1			Experienced 2		
Teacher Centered	Yes	%	No	%	Response	Yes	%	Response	Yes	%	No	Response	Yes	%	Response	Yes	%	Response	Yes	%	Response	Yes	%	Response
Audio	19	86%	3	14%	22	4	80%	5	8	89%	1	9	7	88%	8	3	75%	4	8	89%	9	9	100%	9
Chalkboard or dry erase board	22	100%	0	0%	22	5	100%	5	9	100%	0	9	8	100%	8	4	100%	4	9	100%	9	9	100%	9
Digital presentations	20	91%	2	9%	22	5	100%	5	9	100%	0	9	6	75%	8	4	100%	4	9	100%	9	8	89%	9
Overhead projector with transparencies	3	15%	17	85%	20	0	0%	0	2	22%	7	9	1	12%	8	1	33%	3	2	22%	9	0	0%	9
Videos	21	95%	1	5%	22	5	100%	5	9	100%	0	9	7	88%	8	4	100%	4	9	100%	9	9	100%	9
	General				20-29		30-39			40+			Novice			Ex	Experienced 1			Experienced				
Student Centered	Yes	%	No	%	Response	Yes	%	Response	Yes	%	No	Response	Yes	%	Response	Yes	%	Response	Yes	%	Response	Yes	%	Response
Mobile device, computer, or smartphone	18	90%	2	10%	20	3	100%	3	8	89%	1	9	7	88%	8	3	100%	3	8	89%	9	8	89%	9
		G	ener	al			20-29		30-39			40+			Novice			Experienced 1			Experienced 2		ed 2	
Teacher or Student Centered (depending on usage)	Yes	%	No	%	Response	Yes	%	Response	Yes	%	No	Response	Yes	%	Response	Yes	%	Response	Yes	%	Response	Yes	%	Response
Clickers	1	5%	19	95%	20	0	0%	3	0	0%	9	9	1	12%	8	0	0%	3	0	0%	9	1	11%	9
Flipped Classroom (students watch tutorials / read instructional content prior to class)	8	38%	13	62%	21	2	50%	4	4	44%	5	9	2	25%	8	1	33%	3	4	44%	9	2	22%	9

Use of a CMS / LMS															
	Gener	ral	Age 20)-29	Age 30)-39	Age 4	0+	Novi	ce	Experien	nced 1	Experienced 2		
Answer	Response	%	Response	%	Response	%	Response	%	Response	%	Response %		Response	%	
Yes	14	78%	3	60%	6	6 100%		5 71%		2 50%		100%	8	100%	
No	4	22%	2	40%	0	0%	2	29%	2	50%	0	0%	0		
Total	8 5			6		7		4		6		8			

CMS / LMS Functions								
Teacher Centered	Yes	%	Student Centered	Yes	%	Teacher & Student Centered (depending on usage)	Yes	%
Attendance tracking *	7	50%	Discussion boards or chat rooms	2	14%	Quizzes *	4	29%
Check for plagiarism *	9	64%	Gaming	1	7%	Surveys *	1	7%
Dropbox for students to submit assignments *	9	64%	Unlocking features (students complete certain tasks or receive certain scores to receive additional assignments or rewards) *	0	0%			
Grade book *	11	79%						
Post homework *	9	64%						
Post optional reading, video, or audio files *	9	64%						
Post pre-class assignments (flipped classroom materials) *	4	29%						

* *Notes the function as administrative or instructional delivery in nature.* Total of 12 out of 16 respondents use a CMS / LMS

<u>Tools</u>

Tool Functions	s in Personal Domain	s 																				
	Personal Domain		Gen	eral		Ages 20	-29		Ages 3	0-39		Ages 4	40+		Novi	ce		Experien	iced 1		Experien	iced 2
Type of Function	Personal Use Functions	Yes	%	Response s	Yes	%	Response s	Yes	%	Response s	Yes	%	Response s	Yes	%	Response s	Yes	%	Response s	Yes	%	Response s
Administrative	Calculator	22	100%	22	5	100%	5	9	100%	9	8	100%	8	4	100%	4	9	100%	9	9	100%	9
	(e.g. appointments, tasks, etc.)	20	91%	22	5	100%	5	7	78%	9	5	63%	8	4	100%	4	7	78%	9	4	44%	9
	clock (including alarm clock, stopwatch, timer, etc.)	20	91%	22	5	100%	5	9	100%	9	6	75%	8	3	75%	4	9	100%	9	7	78%	9
Collaborative	Access, create, share, edit, or retrieve documents stored on the cloud (e.g. Dropbox, Evernote, Google Docs, etc.)	19	86%	22	5	100%	5	9	100%	9	5	63%	8	4	100%	4	9	100%	9	6	67%	9
Communication	Email	22	100%	22	5	100%	5	9	100%	9	8	100%	8	4	100%	4	9	100%	9	9	100%	9
	Telephone	19	86%	22	5	100%	5	8	89%	9	6	75%	8	4	100%	4	8	89%	9	7	78%	9
	Video chats (c.g. Facetime, Google Hangout, ooVoo, Skype, etc.)	19	86%	22	5	100%	5	8	89%	9	6	75%	8	4	100%	4	8	89%	9	6	67%	9
Information	Internet browsing or searches	21	95%	22	5	100%	5	9	100%	9	8	100%	8	4	100%	4	9	100%	9	9	100%	9
	News or weather source	21	95%	22	5	100%	5	9	100%	9	7	88%	8	4	100%	4	9	100%	9	8	89%	9
	Specific programs or applications (incl. business, GPS or navigation, graphic design, food & drink, finance, health & fitness, hobby, home & garden, kids, lifestyle, medical, reference, shopping, sports, travel, etc.)	21	95%	22	5	100%	5	9	100%	9	7	88%	8	4	100%	4	9	100%	9	9	100%	9
Multimedia	Audio recorder	16	73%	22	4	80%	5	7	78%	9	5	63%	8	3	75%	4	7	78%	9	5	56%	9
	Music (e.g. GarageBand, mp3 player, podcasts, web radio, etc.)	19	86%	22	4	80%	5	8	89%	9	7	88%	8	3	75%	4	8	89%	9	7	78%	9
	Photo or video (incl. camera, editing, sharing, storage)	22	100%	22	5	100%	5	9	100%	9	8	100%	8	4	100%	4	9	100%	9	9	100%	9
	Video watching or sharing (e.g. Hulu, Netflix, TED, YouTube, etc.)	21	95%	22	5	100%	5	9	100%	9	7	88%	8	4	100%	4	9	100%	9	8	89%	9
Social Media	Blogging	3	14%	22	1	20%	5	2	22%	9	0	0%	8	0	0%	4	2	22%	9	1	11%	9
	Instant messages, chatrooms, texting	22	100%	22	5	100%	5	9	100%	9	7	88%	8	4	100%	4	9	100%	9	8	89%	9
	Social media (e.g. Facebook, Foursquare, Instagram, LinkedIn, Pinterest, Twitter, etc.)	20	91%	22	4	80%	5	9	100%	9	7	88%	8	3	75%	4	9	100%	9	8	89%	9
Other	Documents or presentations (e.g. word processing, spreadsheets,	20	91%	22	4	80%	5	9	100%	9	7	88%	8	3	75%	4	9	100%	9	8	89%	9
	Games	12	670/			1009/			4.407		-	420/			1000/		6	5(0)			4.40/	
		12	3770	21	5	100%	,	4	4470	9	,	4376		4	100%	4	5	30%	9	4	4470	9
			-						-					<u> </u>								
	Reading	16	73%	22	3	60%	5	8	89%	9	5	63%	8	3	75%	4	8	89%	9	5	56%	0

TECHNOLOGY IN LANGUAGE EDUCATION

Professional Domain General Professional Domain Professional Domain General General Response CSM or Professional Professional Use Type of Function Yes % Instructional Delivery Yes % Yes % Functions Website Administrative Grade Book 79% 11 Attendance tracking 7 50% Check for plagiarism 64% 9 Dropbox for students to 9 64% ubmit assignments Post homework 9 64% assignments Quizzes 29% 4 Surveys 1 7% Collaborative Shared documents (students collaborate to create documents / 7 32% 22 presentations) Wikis 5% 22 1 Email Communication 18 82% 22 Voice over IP applications (e.g. Skype, 0 0% 22 ooVoo, etc.) Information WebOuests (students Additional resources / 3 14% 22 find information on the links Internet) Online dictionaries / Optional assignments / 13 59% 22 9 64% concordancers readings/ materials Language specific programs 6 27% 22 Multimedia Student audio / video 18 73% 22 recordings Audio files Audio 20 91% 22 19 86% 22 Digital storytelling (e.g. Camtasia Studio, iMovie PowerPoint with voice 3 14% 22 over, VoiceThread, etc.) Videos / other digital Flipped classroom Post pre-class images students watch tutorials assignments (flipped 17 77% 22 38% 29% 8 21 4 read instructional classroom materials) content prior to class) Podcasts / videocasts Videos Post required videos or 5 23% 22 21 95% 22 4 29% audio files Audio labs 2 22 9% Repetitive audio drills 5 23% 22 Social Media Blogs (audio or text) 2 9% 22 Class blogs Bulletin or discussion Discussion boards or 22 2 14% 8 36% boards chatrooms Social Media (e.g. Facebook, Twitter, etc.) 2 9% 22 Other Word processing Digital presentations (e.g. Keynote, PowerPoint, Prezi, etc.) 15 68% 22 20 91% 22 Digital games (designed Gaming 4 18% 22 1 7% for language pedagogy) Digital games (other) Games (or links to 3 14% 22 games) Virtual worlds (e.g. Second Life, Twinity, Unlocking features (students complete certain tasks or receive etc.) 0 0% 22 0% 0 certain scores to receive additional assignments or rewards) Computer labs 13 59% 22 Required readings 5 36%

Tool Functions in Professional Domains